

MIT Open Access Articles

The boundary of the Gelfand-Tsetlin graph: A new approach

The MIT Faculty has made this article openly available. *Please share* how this access benefits you. Your story matters.

Citation: Borodin, Alexei, and Grigori Olshanski. "The boundary of the Gelfand-Tsetlin graph: A new approach." Advances in Mathematics 230, no. 4 6 (July 2012): 1738-1779.

As Published: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2012.04.005

Publisher: Elsevier

Persistent URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1721.1/81197

Version: Original manuscript: author's manuscript prior to formal peer review

Terms of use: Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-Share Alike 3.0



THE BOUNDARY OF THE GELFAND-TSETLIN GRAPH: A NEW APPROACH

ALEXEI BORODIN AND GRIGORI OLSHANSKI

ABSTRACT. The Gelfand—Tsetlin graph is an infinite graded graph that encodes branching of irreducible characters of the unitary groups. The boundary of the Gelfand—Tsetlin graph has at least three incarnations — as a discrete potential theory boundary, as the set of finite indecomposable characters of the infinite-dimensional unitary group, and as the set of doubly infinite totally positive sequences. An old deep result due to Albert Edrei and Dan Voiculescu provides an explicit description of the boundary; it can be realized as a region in an infinite-dimensional coordinate space.

The paper contains a novel approach to the Edrei–Voiculescu theorem. It is based on a new explicit formula for the number of semi-standard Young tableaux of a given skew shape (or of Gelfand–Tsetlin schemes of trapezoidal shape). The formula is obtained via the theory of symmetric functions, and new Schur-like symmetric functions play a key role in the derivation.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Finite characters of $S(\infty)$ and $U(\infty)$. A brief survey	2
1.2. A combinatorial formulation	3
1.3. Motivations	3
1.4. Organization of the paper	4
Acknowledgements	6
2. Preliminaries	6
2.1. The graph \mathbb{GT}	6
2.2. The boundary of \mathbb{GT}	6 7
2.3. Representation-theoretic interpretation	8
2.4. The space Ω and the function $\Phi(u;\omega)$	9
2.5. The functions $\varphi_{\nu}(\omega)$ and the Markov kernels Λ_N^{∞}	11
2.6. The Feller property	12
2.7. Totality of $\{\varphi_{\nu}\}$	15
2.8. Description of the boundary	16
3. The Uniform Approximation Theorem	17
4. A Cauchy-type identity	20
5. A generating function for the relative dimension	23

6.	A Jacobi-Trudi-type formula	29
7.	Expansion on rational fractions	34
8.	Contour integral representation	39
9.	Appendix	43
Re	eferences	45

1. Introduction

1.1. Finite characters of $S(\infty)$ and $U(\infty)$. A brief survey. The symmetric group S(n) and the unitary group U(N) are two model examples of finite and compact groups, respectively. Their irreducible characters are basic objects of representation theory that have numerous applications.

In two remarkable papers by Thoma [Tho64] and Voiculescu [Vo76] written independently and published twelve years apart from each other, the authors discovered that the theory of characters can be nontrivially generalized to groups $S(\infty)$ and $U(\infty)$ defined as inductive limits of the group chains

$$S(1) \subset S(2) \subset \dots$$
 and $U(1) \subset U(2) \subset \dots$

The original idea of Thoma (for $S(\infty)$) and Voiculescu (for $U(\infty)$) consisted in replacing irreducible representations by factor representations (in the sense of von Neumann) with finite trace. Then characters are still ordinary functions on the group, and it turns out that for $S(\infty)$ and $U(\infty)$ they depend on countably many continuous parameters. This fact supports the intuitive feeling that these groups are "big".

It was later discovered (Vershik and Kerov [VK81], [VK82]; Boyer [Boy83]) that the classification of finite characters of $S(\infty)$ and $U(\infty)$ was obtained in a hidden form in earlier works of the beginning of 1950's (Aissen, Edrei, Schoenberg, and Whitney [AESW51]; Aissen, Schoenberg, and Whitney [ASW52]; Edrei [Ed52], [Ed53]). Those papers solved the problems of classification of totally positive sequences posed by Schoenberg in the end of 1940's ([Sch48]).

On the other hand, Vershik and Kerov [VK81], [VK82], [VK90] outlined a different approach to finite characters. Their approach was not based on total positivity and theory of functions of a complex variable, as Edrei's and Thoma's. Instead, it relied on the ideas of discrete potential theory and combinatorics of symmetric functions. In a broader context this approach was described in detail in Kerov, Okounkov, and Olshanski [KOO98] and Okounkov and Olshanski [OO98], where the character problem was rephrased in the language of boundaries of two infinite graphs, the Young graph Y and the Gelfand–Tsetlin graph GT. These are two model examples

¹Nowadays, largely due to the works of Lusztig and Fomin-Zelevinsky, total positivity is a popular subject. In 1960-70's the situation was different, and Thoma and Voiculescu apparently were unaware of the work of Schoenberg and his followers.

of the so-called branching graphs; they encode branching rules of the irreducible characters of symmetric and unitary groups, respectively.

Denote by χ_{ν} the irreducible character of S(n) or U(N). Here index ν is either a Young diagram with n boxes or a signature of length N (a highest weight for U(N)). In Vershik-Kerov's approach, one studies the limiting behavior of the normalized characters

$$\widetilde{\chi}_{\nu} := \frac{\chi_{\nu}}{\chi_{\nu}(e)}$$

when n or N becomes large, and the diagram/signature is n or N dependent. It turns out that possible limits of $\widetilde{\chi}_{\nu}$ are exactly the finite characters of $S(\infty)$ or $U(\infty)$, respectively.

1.2. A combinatorial formulation. In the language of branching graphs, the question of asymptotics of $\tilde{\chi}_{\nu}$ can be reformulated in a purely combinatorial fashion. More exactly, one asks about the asymptotics of

$$\frac{\dim(\varkappa, \nu)}{\dim \nu} \qquad \text{(for the symmetric group)} \tag{1.1}$$

$$\frac{\dim(\varkappa,\nu)}{\dim\nu} \quad \text{(for the symmetric group)}$$

$$\frac{\dim(\varkappa,\nu)}{\dim_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)} \quad \text{(for the unitary group)},$$
(1.1)

with the following notations:

- In the symmetric group case, \varkappa is a Young diagram with k < n boxes; dim ν is the number of standard Young tableaux of shape ν ; dim (\varkappa, ν) is the number of the standard tableaux of skew shape ν/\varkappa if $\varkappa \subset \nu$, and 0 if $\varkappa \not\subset \nu$.
- In the unitary group case, \varkappa is a signature of length K < N; $Dim_N \nu$ is the number of triangular Gelfand-Tsetlin schemes with fixed top row (ν_1, \ldots, ν_N) ; $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)$ is the number of truncated (trapezoidal) Gelfand-Tsetlin schemes with top row ν and bottom row \varkappa .

The "dimensions" dim and Dim count certain finite sets of monotone paths in \mathbb{Y} and GT. In both cases, the problem consists in classification of all possible ways for ν to approach infinity so that the "relative dimension" (1.1) or (1.2) has a finite limit for any fixed diagram/signature \varkappa . These possibilities are parameterized by the points of the branching graph's boundary.

Let us note that the denominator in (1.1) or (1.2) is given by a relatively simple formula, while computing the numerator is substantially harder. This basic difficulty results in nontriviality of the asymptotic analysis.

1.3. Motivations. In the present paper we return to the problem of finding the boundary of GT and obtain a new proof of completeness of the list of characters of $U(\infty)$ given by Voiculescu in [Vo76]. The reader would be fully justified to ask why we decided to reconsider an old theorem and produce its third proof, especially since our proof is not that simple. Here are our arguments.

(a) The boundary descriptions for \mathbb{Y} and \mathbb{GT} are strikingly similar. In terms of total positivity, the points of both boundaries correspond to infinite totally positive Toeplitz matrices; in the first case the matrices grow to one side (have format $\mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$), and in the second case they grow to both sides (have format $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$). We are confident that the parallelism between \mathbb{Y} and \mathbb{GT} is deeply rooted, and one should expect its appearance in other aspects as well ². However, if one compares the proofs given in [KOO98] for \mathbb{Y} and in [OO98] for \mathbb{GT} then one would notice that they are substantially different.

More exactly, in the case of \mathbb{Y} in [OO97a, Theorem 8.1] the authors obtained a formula that expressed the relative dimension (1.1) through the shifted Schur functions. This formula is well adapted for the asymptotic analysis, and [KOO98] was based on this formula (and on its generalization that includes the Jack parameter [OO97b]). In the case of \mathbb{GT} there was no analogous expression for (1.2). For that reason the authors of [OO98] had to follow a round-about path inspired by an idea from [VK82] of pursuing the asymptotics of the Taylor expansion of characters $\tilde{\chi}_{\nu}$ at the unit element of the group.

In the present paper, in contrast to [OO98], we work directly with the relative dimension (1.2) and derive a formula for it that is suitable for asymptotic analysis. Hence, we achieve uniformity in the asymptotic approach to the boundaries of \mathbb{Y} and \mathbb{GT} .

- (b) We believe that our formula for the relative dimension (1.2) and its proof are of independent interest in algebraic combinatorics. The formula involves certain new symmetric functions of Schur type. In the proof we also use the so-called dual Schur functions that were thoroughly investigated in a recent paper by Moley [Mo09].
- (c) The description of GT's boundary is derived below from a new result that we call the Uniform Approximation Theorem. It is important to us as it allows to substantially strengthen our results in [BO10] on Markov dynamics on the boundary of GT. This development will be described in a separate publication.
- (d) To conclude, we believe that the classification of finite characters of $U(\infty)$ is a difficult and truly deep result, and already for that reason its third proof should not be dismissed as excessive.
- 1.4. **Organization of the paper.** Section 2 contains main definitions and auxiliary results. A part of those is contained in one form or another in Voiculescu [Vo76]. At the end of the section we give a description of GT's boundary (Theorem 2.15 and Corollary 2.16).

In Section 3 we state the Uniform Approximation Theorem (Theorem 3.1) and explain how it implies the results on the boundary of \mathbb{GT} .

Sections 4–8 contain the proof of the Uniform Approximation Theorem.

²New results in this direction are contained in our paper [BO11].

In Section 4 we give an auxiliary result on an identity of Cauchy type; here dual Schur functions come about (more general results in this direction can be found in Molev [Mo09]).

In Section 5 we prove a different identity of Cauchy type:

$$H^*(t_1;\nu)\dots H^*(t_K;\nu) = \sum_{\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu} \mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\dots,t_K).$$
(1.3)

Here t_1, \ldots, t_K are complex variables, ν is an arbitrary signature of length N > K,

$$H^*(t; \nu) = \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{t+i}{t+i-\nu_i},$$

the summation in the right-hand side of (1.3) is over signatures \varkappa of length K, and $\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)$ are certain new analogs of Schur functions in K variables. The coefficients in front of these functions are the relative dimensions (1.2) that we are interested in.

In Section 6 we show how (1.3) implies a Jacobi–Trudi type formula for the relative dimension. It expresses the relative dimension as a determinant of size $K \times K$ whose matrix elements are coefficients of the decomposition of $H^*(t; \nu)$ on certain rational functions.

Section 7 explains how to write those coefficients through residues of $H^*(t;\nu)$. As a result, we obtain an explicit formula for the relative dimension (Theorem 7.2). For comparison, we also give a different formula (Remark 3.2). In contrast to Theorem 7.2, its derivation is simple but the formula seems useless for our purposes.

In Section 8 using Theorem 7.2 we conclude the proof of the Uniform Approximation Theorem.

Together with the Uniform Approximation Theorem, the formula of Theorem 7.2 is one of our main results. It is plausible that this formula can be obtained in a simpler way, and we would be very interested in seeing how to do that. It often happens that combinatorial identities have different proofs which can be simpler than the original derivation. (For example, one could try to derive Theorem 7.2 from the formula of Remark 3.2 or from the binomial formula for the normalized characters $\tilde{\chi}_{\nu}$ that [OO97a] was based upon.)

Not only the Uniform Approximation Theorem provides a new derivation of \mathbb{GT} 's boundary, but it also immediately implies the main results of [VK82] and [OO98] on large N asymptotics of the normalized characters $\tilde{\chi}_{\nu}$. In the last Section 9 we demonstrate that conversely, the Uniform Approximation Theorem is not hard to prove using the results of [OO98] if one additionally employs the log-concavity of characters $\tilde{\chi}_{\nu}$ discovered by Okounkov [Ok97]. We emphasize however that this approach gives nothing for Theorem 7.2.

Let us finally mention a recent paper by Gorin [Go11] where the boundary of a "q-analog" of \mathbb{GT} was described (the edges of the graph are supplied with certain

formal q-dependent multiplicities). It would be interesting to extend the approach of the present paper to the q- \mathbb{GT} case.

Acknowledgements. A. B. was partially supported by NSF-grant DMS-1056390. G. O. was partially supported by a grant from Simons Foundation (Simons–IUM Fellowship), the RFBR-CNRS grant 10-01-93114, and the project SFB 701 of Bielefeld University.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. The graph GT. Following [Wey39], for $N \ge 1$ define a signature of length N as an N-tuple of nonincreasing integers $\nu = (\nu_1 \ge \cdots \ge \nu_N)$, and denote by \mathbb{GT}_N the set of all such signatures.

Two signatures $\lambda \in \mathbb{GT}_{N-1}$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ interlace if $\nu_{i+1} \leq \lambda_i \leq \nu_i$ for all meaningful values of indices; in this case we write $\lambda \prec \nu$.

Let $\mathbb{GT} = \bigsqcup_{N \geq 1} \mathbb{GT}_N$ be the set of signatures of arbitrary length, and equip \mathbb{GT} with edges by joining λ and ν iff $\lambda \prec \nu$ or $\nu \prec \lambda$. This turns \mathbb{GT} into a graph that is called the *Gelfand-Tsetlin graph*. We call $\mathbb{GT}_N \subset \mathbb{GT}$ the *level N subset* of the graph.

By a path between two vertices $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, K < N, we mean a sequence

$$\varkappa = \lambda^{(K)} \prec \lambda^{(K+1)} \prec \cdots \prec \lambda^{(N)} = \nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N.$$

Such a path can be viewed as an array of numbers

$$\{\lambda_i^{(j)}\}, \quad K \le j \le N, \quad 1 \le i \le j,$$

satisfying the inequalities $\lambda_{i+1}^{(j+1)} \leq \lambda_i^{(j)} \leq \lambda_i^{(j+1)}$. It is called a Gelfand–Tsetlin scheme. If K=1, the scheme has triangular form and if K>1, it has trapezoidal form.

Let $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)$ denote the number of paths between \varkappa and ν , and let $\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu$ be the number of all paths starting at an arbitrary vertex of level 1 and ending at ν . Both these numbers are always finite; note that they count the lattice points in some bounded convex polyhedra. The number $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)$ may be equal to 0, but $\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu$ is always strictly positive.

For $N \geq 2$ denote by Λ_{N-1}^N the matrix of format $\mathbb{GT}_N \times \mathbb{GT}_{N-1}$ with the entries

$$\Lambda_{N-1}^{N}(\nu,\lambda) = \begin{cases} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{N-1}\lambda}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu}, & \lambda \prec \nu, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

By the very definition of the Dim function,

$$\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu = \sum_{\lambda: \lambda \prec \nu} \operatorname{Dim}_{N-1} \lambda.$$

It follows that Λ_{N-1}^N is a stochastic matrix:

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathbb{GT}_{N-1}} \Lambda_{N-1}^{N}(\nu, \lambda) = 1 \qquad \forall \nu \in \mathbb{GT}_{N}.$$

More generally, for $N > K \ge 1$, the matrix product

$$\Lambda_K^N := \Lambda_{N-1}^N \Lambda_{N-2}^{N-1} \dots \Lambda_K^{K+1} \tag{2.1}$$

is a stochastic matrix, too, and its entries are

$$\Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa) = \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_K \varkappa \operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu}.$$

2.2. The boundary of \mathbb{GT} . We say that an infinite sequence M_1, M_2, \ldots of probability distributions on the sets $\mathbb{GT}_1, \mathbb{GT}_2, \ldots$, respectively, forms a *coherent system* if the distributions are consistent with the transition matrices $\Lambda_1^2, \Lambda_2^3, \ldots$, meaning that

$$M_N \Lambda_{N-1}^N = M_{N-1} \qquad \forall N \ge 2.$$

Here we interpret M_N as a row vector $\{M_N(\nu) : \nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N\}$, which makes it possible to define the multiplication in the left-hand side. In more detail, the relation means

$$\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} M_N(\nu) \Lambda_{N-1}^N(\nu, \lambda) = M_{N-1}(\lambda) \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{GT}_{N-1}.$$

Note that the set of all coherent systems is a convex set: if $\{M_N : N = 1, 2, ...\}$ and $\{M'_N : N = 1, 2, ...\}$ are two coherent systems, then for any $p \in [0, 1]$, the convex combination $\{pM_N + (1-p)M'_N : N = 1, 2, ...\}$ is a coherent system, too. A coherent system is said to be *extreme* if it is an extreme point in this convex set.

Definition 2.1. The boundary $\partial(\mathbb{GT})$ of the Gelfand-Tsetlin graph \mathbb{GT} is defined as the set of extreme coherent systems of distributions on \mathbb{GT} .

This definition mimics the well-known definition of the minimal part of the Martin entrance boundary of a Markov chain (see, e.g. [KSK76]). Indeed, consider the infinite chain

$$\mathbb{GT}_1 \leftarrow -\mathbb{GT}_2 \leftarrow -\mathbb{GT}_2 \leftarrow -\dots \tag{2.2}$$

where the dashed arrows symbolize the transition matrices Λ_{N-1}^N . One may regard (2.2) as a Markov chain with time parameter $N=1,2,\ldots$ ranging in the reverse direction, from infinity to 1, and with the state space varying with time. Although such a Markov chain looks a bit unusual, the conventional definition of the minimal entrance boundary can be adapted to our context, and this leads to the same space $\partial(\mathbb{GT})$. Note that the minimal entrance boundary may be a proper subset of the whole Martin entrance boundary, but for the concrete chain (2.2) these two boundaries coincide.

One more interpretation of the boundary $\partial(\mathbb{GT})$ is the following: it coincides with the *projective limit* of chain (2.2) in the category whose objects are measurable

spaces and morphisms are defined as Markov transition kernels (stochastic matrices are just simplest instances of such kernels).

For more detail about the concept of entrance boundary employed in the present paper, see, e.g., [Dy71], [Dy78], [Wi85].

2.3. Representation-theoretic interpretation. Let U(N) denote the group of $N \times N$ unitary matrices or, equivalently, the group of unitary operators in the coordinate space \mathbb{C}^N . For every $N \geq 2$ we identify the group U(N-1) with the subgroup of U(N) that fixes the last basis vector. In this way we get an infinite chain of groups embedded into each other

$$U(1) \subset U(2) \subset U(3) \subset \dots \tag{2.3}$$

As is well known, signatures from \mathbb{GT}_N parameterize irreducible characters of U(N); given $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, let χ_{ν} denote the corresponding character. The *branching* rule for the irreducible characters of the unitary groups says that

$$\chi_{\nu}\Big|_{U(N-1)} = \sum_{\lambda: \lambda \prec \nu} \chi_{\lambda} \qquad \forall \nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N, \quad N \ge 2,$$
 (2.4)

where the vertical bar means the restriction map from U(N) to U(N-1). The graph \mathbb{GT} just reflects the rule (2.4); for this reason one says that \mathbb{GT} is the *branching graph* for the characters of the unitary groups.

It follows from (2.4) that $\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu$ equals $\chi_{\nu}(e)$, the value of χ_{ν} at the unit element of U(N), which is the same as the dimension of the corresponding irreducible representation. This explains our notation.

Let $U(\infty)$ be the union of the groups (2.3). Although $U(\infty)$ is not a compact group, one can develop for it a rich theory of characters provided that the very notion of character is suitably revised:

Definition 2.2. By a *character* of $U(\infty)$ we mean a function $\chi:U(\infty)\to\mathbb{C}$ satisfying the following conditions:

- χ is continuous in the inductive limit topology on $U(\infty)$ (which simply means that the restriction of χ to every subgroup U(N) is continuous);
 - χ is a class function, that is, constant on conjugacy classes;
 - χ is positive definite;
 - $\chi(e) = 1$.

Next, observe that the set of all characters is a convex set and say that χ is an extreme character if it is an extreme point of this set.

The above definition makes sense for any topological group. In particular, the extreme characters of U(N) are precisely the *normalized* irreducible characters

$$\widetilde{\chi}_{\nu} := \frac{\chi_{\nu}}{\chi_{\nu}(e)} = \frac{\chi_{\nu}}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N} \nu}, \qquad \nu \in \mathbb{GT}_{N},$$

and the set of all characters of U(N) is an infinite-dimensional simplex; its vertices are the characters $\widetilde{\chi}_{\nu}$.

The extreme characters of $U(\infty)$ can be viewed as analogs of characters $\widetilde{\chi}_{\nu}$.

The representation-theoretic meaning of the extreme characters is that they correspond to finite factor representations of $U(\infty)$; see [Vo76].

Proposition 2.3. There is a natural bijective correspondence between the characters of the group $U(\infty)$ and the coherent systems on the graph \mathbb{GT} , which also induces a bijection between the extreme characters and the points of the boundary $\partial(\mathbb{GT})$.

Proof. If χ is a character of $U(\infty)$, then for every $N=1,2,\ldots$ the restriction χ to U(N) is a convex combination of normalized characters $\tilde{\chi}_{\nu}$. The corresponding coefficients, say $M_N(\nu)$, are nonnegative and sum to 1, so that they determine a probability distribution M_N on \mathbb{GT}_N . Further, the family $\{M_N: N=1,2,\ldots\}$ is a coherent system. The correspondence $\chi \to \{M_N\}$ defined in this way is a bijection of the set of characters of $U(\infty)$ onto the set of coherent systems, which is also an isomorphism of convex sets. This entails a bijection between the extreme points of the both sets, that is, the extreme characters and and the points of $\partial(\mathbb{GT})$.

For more detail, see [Ols03] and especially Proposition 7.4 therein.

Informally, Proposition 2.3 says that the chain (2.2) is dual to the chain (2.3) and the boundary $\partial(\mathbb{GT})$ is a kind of dual object to $U(\infty)$.

2.4. The space Ω and the function $\Phi(u;\omega)$. Let $\mathbb{R}_+ \subset \mathbb{R}$ denote the set of nonnegative real numbers, \mathbb{R}_+^{∞} denote the product of countably many copies of \mathbb{R}_+ , and set

$$\mathbb{R}_{+}^{4\infty+2} = \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}.$$

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{4\infty+2}_+$ be the subset of sextuples

$$\omega = (\alpha^+, \beta^+; \alpha^-, \beta^-; \delta^+, \delta^-)$$

such that

Set

$$\alpha^{\pm} = (\alpha_1^{\pm} \ge \alpha_2^{\pm} \ge \dots \ge 0) \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\infty}, \quad \beta^{\pm} = (\beta_1^{\pm} \ge \beta_2^{\pm} \ge \dots \ge 0) \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\infty},$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (\alpha_i^{\pm} + \beta_i^{\pm}) \le \delta^{\pm}, \quad \beta_1^{+} + \beta_1^{-} \le 1.$$

Equip $\mathbb{R}^{4\infty+2}_+$ with the product topology. An important fact is that, in the induced topology, Ω is a locally compact space. Moreover, it is metrizable and separable. Any subset in Ω of the form $\delta^+ + \delta^- \leq \text{const}$ is compact, which shows that a sequence of points in Ω goes to infinity if and only the quantity $\delta^+ + \delta^-$ goes to infinity.

$$\gamma^{\pm} = \delta^{\pm} - \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (\alpha_i^{\pm} + \beta_i^{\pm})$$

and note that γ^+, γ^- are nonnegative. For $u \in \mathbb{C}^*$ and $\omega \in \Omega$ set

$$\Phi(u;\omega) = e^{\gamma^+(u-1)+\gamma^-(u^{-1}-1)} \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1+\beta_i^+(u-1)}{1-\alpha_i^+(u-1)} \frac{1+\beta_i^-(u^{-1}-1)}{1-\alpha_i^-(u^{-1}-1)}.$$
 (2.5)

Here are some properties of $\Phi(u;\omega)$ as a function in variable u:

For any fixed ω , this is a meromorphic function in $u \in \mathbb{C}^*$ with poles on $(0,1) \cup (1,+\infty)$. The poles do not accumulate to 1, so that the function is holomorphic in a neighborhood of the unit circle

$$\mathbb{T} := \{ u \in \mathbb{C} : |u| = 1 \}.$$

Obviously,

$$\Phi(1;\omega) = 1 \quad \forall \omega \in \Omega.$$

In particular, $\Phi(u;\omega)$ is well defined and continuous on \mathbb{T} .

Proposition 2.4. One has

$$|\Phi(u;\omega)| \le 1$$
 for $u \in \mathbb{T}$.

Proof. Indeed, the claim actually holds for every factor in (2.5):

$$|(1 - \alpha_i^{\pm}(u^{\pm 1} - 1))^{-1}| \le 1, \qquad |1 + \beta_i^{\pm}(u^{\pm 1} - 1)| \le 1, \qquad |e^{\gamma^{\pm}(u^{\pm 1} - 1)}| \le 1.$$
 (2.6)

Proposition 2.5. Different ω 's correspond to different functions $\Phi(\cdot, \omega)$.

Proof. See [OO98, Proof of Theorem 5.1, Step 3]. Here the condition $\beta_1^+ + \beta_1^- \le 1$ plays the decisive role.

Proposition 2.6. There exists a homeomorphism $S: \Omega \to \Omega$ such that

$$\Phi(u:S\omega) = u\Phi(u:\omega).$$

Proof. Indeed, observe that

$$u(1 + \beta(u^{-1} - 1)) = 1 + (1 - \beta)(u - 1).$$

It follows that S has the following form: it deletes β_1^- from the list of the β^- -coordinates of ω (so that β_2^- becomes coordinate number 1, β_3^- becomes coordinate number 2, etc.) and adds a new β^+ coordinate equal to $1 - \beta_1^-$. Note that this new coordinate is $\geq \beta_1^+$ (due to the condition $\beta_1^+ + \beta_1^- \leq 1$), so that it acquires number 1, β_1^+ becomes coordinate number 2, etc. All the remaining coordinates remain intact.

2.5. The functions $\varphi_{\nu}(\omega)$ and the Markov kernels Λ_N^{∞} . Since $\Phi(\cdot; \omega)$ is regular in a neighborhood of \mathbb{T} , it can be expanded into a Laurent series:

$$\Phi(u;\omega) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi_n(\omega) u^n,$$

where

$$\varphi_n(\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathbb{T}} \Phi(u; \omega) \frac{du}{u^{n+1}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (2.7)

The Laurent coefficients $\varphi_n(\omega)$ play an important role in what follows.

More generally, we associate with every $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, N = 1, 2, ..., the following function on Ω

$$\varphi_{\nu}(\omega) := \det[\varphi_{\nu_i - i + j}(\omega)]_{i,j=1}^N.$$

Recall that the rational Schur function in N variables is the Laurent polynomial indexed by a signature $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ and defined by

$$S_{\nu}(u_1, \dots, u_N) = \frac{\det \left[u_i^{\nu_j + N - j}\right]_{i,j=1}^N}{\prod\limits_{1 \le i \le j \le N} (u_i - u_j)}.$$

These Laurent polynomials form a basis in the algebra $\mathbb{C}[u_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, u_N^{\pm 1}]^{\text{sym}}$ of symmetric Laurent polynomials.

Proposition 2.7. For N = 1, 2, ... the following expansion holds

$$\Phi(u_1; \omega) \dots \Phi(u_N; \omega) = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} \varphi_{\nu}(\omega) S_{\nu}(u_1, \dots, u_N), \qquad (2.8)$$

where the series converges in a neighborhood of $\mathbb{T} \subset \mathbb{C}^*$ depending on $\omega \in \Omega$.

Proof. This is a very simple but fundamental fact. See, e.g., [Vo76, Lemme 2]. \Box

Note that if (2.8) is interpreted as an identity of formal series, without addressing the question of convergence, then the result holds for an arbitrary two-sided infinite formal power series in u in place of $\Phi(u;\omega)$. Further, if the series is expanded on nonnegative powers of u only and the constant term is equal to 1, then the product in the left-hand side may be infinite. In that case the right-hand side becomes an expansion on Schur symmetric functions in infinitely many variables, indexed by arbitrary partitions. See, e.g., [Li50, pp. 99-100].

Proposition 2.8. The functions $\varphi_{\nu}(\omega)$ are nonnegative.

This fine property means that for any ω , all minors of the two-sided infinite Toeplitz matrix $[\varphi_{i-j}(\omega)]_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ extracted from several consecutive columns are nonnegative. But this actually implies that *all* minors are nonnegative (see [Boy83, p.218]). That is, the two-sided infinite sequence $\{\varphi_n(\omega)\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is *totally positive*.

As is well known, the Laurent polynomials S_{ν} with $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ determine the irreducible characters of U(N) in the sense that $\chi_{\nu} = S_{\nu}$ on the torus $\mathbb{T}^N = \mathbb{T} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{T}$ identified with the subgroup of diagonal matrices in U(N). It follows that

$$S_{\nu}(\underbrace{1,\ldots,1}_{N}) = \operatorname{Dim}_{N} \nu \tag{2.9}$$

and, more generally,

$$S_{\nu}(u_1, \dots, u_K, \underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{N-K}) = \sum_{\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K} \operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa, \nu) S_{\varkappa}(u_1, \dots, u_K), \qquad K < N. \quad (2.10)$$

Equalities (2.8)-(2.10) imply

Proposition 2.9. Set

$$\Lambda_N^{\infty}(\omega, \nu) = \operatorname{Dim}_N \nu \cdot \varphi_{\nu}(\omega), \tag{2.11}$$

where $N = 1, 2, ..., \omega \in \Omega$, and $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$.

(i) Λ_N^{∞} is a Markov kernel, that is, $\Lambda_N^{\infty}(\omega, \nu) \geq 0$ for all ω and ν , and

$$\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} \Lambda_N^{\infty}(\omega, \nu) = 1. \tag{2.12}$$

(ii) For $N > K \ge 1$ there holds

$$\Lambda_N^{\infty} \Lambda_K^N = \Lambda_K^{\infty}. \tag{2.13}$$

Or, in more detail.

$$\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} \Lambda^{\infty}(\omega, \nu) \Lambda_K^N(\nu, \varkappa) = \Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega, \varkappa), \qquad \forall \omega \in \Omega, \quad \forall \varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K.$$
 (2.14)

Proof. The property $\Lambda_N^{\infty}(\omega,\nu) \geq 0$ is ensured by Proposition 2.8.

Plug in $u_1 = \cdots = u_N = 1$ into (2.8) and use the fact that $\Phi(1; \omega) = 1$. Then, because of (2.9), we get (2.12).

Likewise, plug in $u_{K+1} = \cdots = u_N = 1$ into (2.8) and apply (2.10). Comparing the result with the expansion

$$\Phi(u_1; \omega) \dots \Phi(u_K; \omega) = \sum_{\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K} \varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega) S_{\varkappa}(u_1, \dots, u_K)$$

we get (2.14).

2.6. The Feller property. For a locally compact metrizable separable space X, denote by $C_0(X)$ the space of real-valued continuous functions vanishing at infinity. This is a separable Banach space with respect to the supremum norm. In particular, the definition makes sense for $X = \Omega$ and also for \mathbb{GT}_N , since this a countable discrete space. Let us interpret functions $f \in C_0(\mathbb{GT}_N)$ as column vectors.

Proposition 2.10. The functions $\varphi_n(\omega)$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, are continuous functions on Ω vanishing at infinity.

An immediate consequence of this result is the following

Corollary 2.11. For every N=1,2,... the Markov kernel Λ_N^{∞} is a Feller kernel, meaning that the map $f \mapsto \Lambda_N^{\infty} f$ is a continuous (actually, contractive) linear operator $C_0(\mathbb{GT}_N) \to C_0(\Omega)$.

Proof of the corollary. It follows from the proposition and the definition of the kernel that for $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ fixed, the function $\omega \mapsto \Lambda_N^{\infty}(\omega, \nu)$ is continuous and vanishes at infinity. This is equivalent to the Feller property.

Proof of the proposition. The continuity is established in [Ols03, Proof of Theorem 8.1, Step 1].

Now we must prove that for any fixed $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any sequence of points $\{\omega(k)\}$ in Ω converging to infinity one has $\lim_{k\to\infty} \varphi_n(\omega(k)) = 0$. It is enough to prove a weaker claim that the same limit relation holds for a subsequence in $\{\omega(k)\}$. Below we write $\alpha_i^{\pm}(k)$, $\beta_i^{\pm}(k)$, $\delta^{\pm}(k)$ for the coordinates of $\omega(k)$.

Step 1. We may assume that $\sup_{k\geq 1} \alpha_1^{\pm}(k) < \infty$. Indeed, if there is a subsequence $\{k_m\}_{m\geq 1}$ such that $\alpha_1^{\pm}(k_m) \to \infty$, then along this subsequence $(1-\alpha_1^{\pm}(u^{\pm 1}-1))^{-1}$ tends to zero uniformly on any compact subset of $\mathbb{T}\setminus\{u=1\}$, which implies that the right-hand side of (2.7) tends to zero.

Let us fix A > 0 such that $\sup_{k} \alpha_1^{\pm}(k) \leq A$.

Step 2. Assume ω ranges over the subset of elements of Ω with $\alpha_1^{\pm} \leq A$ and $\beta_1^{\pm} \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Then for any $\epsilon > 0$,

$$\lim_{\delta^+ + \delta^- \to \infty} \Phi(u; \omega) = 0 \text{ uniformly on } \{u \in \mathbb{T}, \Re u \le 1 - \epsilon\}.$$

Indeed, assume $0 \le \beta \le \frac{1}{2}$ and $0 \le \alpha \le A$. For u on the unit circle with $\Re u \le 1 - \epsilon$ we have elementary estimates

$$|1 + \beta(u - 1)|^2 = (1 - \beta)^2 + \beta^2 + 2\beta(1 - \beta)\Re u$$

= 1 - 2\beta(1 - \beta)(1 - \beta)(1 - \beta u) \le 1 - 2\beta(1 - \beta)\epsilon \le 1 - \beta\epsilon \le e^{-\beta\epsilon},

$$|1 - \alpha(u - 1)|^{-2} = (1 + 2\alpha(1 + \alpha)(1 - \Re u))^{-1}$$

$$\leq (1 + 2\alpha(1 + \alpha)\epsilon)^{-1} \leq (1 + 2\alpha\epsilon)^{-1} \leq e^{-\operatorname{const}\alpha\epsilon}$$

with a suitable constant const > 0 that depends only on A,

$$|e^{\gamma^+(u-1)+\gamma^-(u^{-1}-1)}|^2 = e^{-2(\gamma^++\gamma^-)(1-\Re u)} \le e^{-2(\gamma^++\gamma^-)\epsilon}.$$

Thus, if

$$\delta^{+} + \delta^{-} = \gamma^{+} + \gamma^{-} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (\alpha_{i}^{+} + \beta_{i}^{+} + \alpha_{i}^{-} + \beta_{i}^{-}) \to \infty$$

then at least one of the right-hand sides in these estimates yields an infinitesimally small contribution, and consequently $\Phi(u;\omega)$ must be small.

Thus, under the above assumptions on ω , we see that $\omega \to \infty$ implies $\varphi_n(\omega) \to 0$ uniformly on $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Step 3. Now we get rid of the restriction $\beta_1^{\pm} \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Set

$$B^{\pm}(k) = \#\{i \ge 1 \mid \beta_i^{\pm}(k) > \frac{1}{2}\}.$$

Since for any $k \geq 1$ we have $\beta_1^+(k) + \beta_1^-(k) \leq 1$, at least one of the numbers $B^{\pm}(k)$ is equal to 0. For inapplicability of the Step 2 argument, for any subsequence $\{\omega(k)\}$, we must have $B^+(k_m) + B^-(k_m) \to \infty$. Hence, possibly passing to a subsequence and switching + and -, we may assume that $B^+(k) \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$.

Set

$$\tilde{\omega}(k) := S^{-B^+(k)}\omega(k),$$

where S is the homeomorphism from Proposition 2.6. In words, $\tilde{\omega}(k)$ is obtained from $\omega(k)$ as follows: Each β^+ -coordinate of $\omega(k)$ that is > 1/2 is transformed into a β^- coordinate of $\tilde{\omega}(k)$ equal to 1 minus the original β^+ -coordinate; all other coordinates are the same (equivalently, the function $\Phi(u;\omega)$) is multiplied by $u^{-B^+(k)}$). Let $(\tilde{\alpha}^{\pm}(k), \tilde{\beta}^{\pm}(k), \tilde{\gamma}^{\pm}(k), \tilde{\delta}^{\pm}(k))$ be the coordinates of $\tilde{\omega}(k)$.

Step 4. Since no β -coordinates of $\tilde{\omega}(k)$ are greater than 1/2, the result of Step 2 implies that if $\sup(\tilde{\delta}^+(k) + \tilde{\delta}^-(k)) = \infty$ then $\varphi_n(\omega(k)) = \varphi_{n-B^+(k)}(\tilde{\omega}(k)) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ along an appropriate subsequence (because the conclusion of that step holds uniformly on $n \in \mathbb{Z}$). Hence, it remains to examine the case when $\tilde{\delta}^+(k) + \tilde{\delta}^-(k)$ is bounded.

Let us deform the integration contour in (2.7) to |u| = R with A/(1+A) < R < 1. Using the estimates (for |u| = R, $0 \le \alpha \le A$, $0 \le \beta \le \frac{1}{2}$)

$$|1 + \beta(u^{\pm 1} - 1)| \le 1 + \beta|u^{\pm 1} - 1| \le e^{\cosh_1 \beta},$$

$$|1 - \alpha(u^{\pm 1} - 1)|^{-1} \le |1 - \alpha(R^{\pm 1} - 1)|^{-1} \le e^{\cosh_2 \alpha},$$

$$|e^{\gamma(u^{\pm 1} - 1)}| \le e^{\cosh_3 \gamma}$$

with suitable $const_j > 0$, j = 1, 2, 3, we see that

$$|\Phi(u; \tilde{\omega}(k))| < e^{\operatorname{const}_4(\tilde{\delta}^+(k) + \tilde{\delta}^-(k))}$$

for a $const_4 > 0$, which remains bounded.

On the other hand, as $k \to \infty$, the factor $u^{-n-1+B^+(k)}$ in the integral representation (2.7) for $\varphi_{n-B^+(k)}(\tilde{\omega}(k))$ tends to 0 uniformly in u, because $B^+(k) \to +\infty$ and

|u| = R < 1. Hence, $\varphi_n(\omega(k)) = \varphi_{n-B^+(k)}(\tilde{\omega}(k)) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$, and the proof of the proposition is complete.

The following proposition is an analog of Corollary 2.11 for the stochastic matrices Λ_K^N . It is much easier to prove.

Proposition 2.12. Let K < N. If $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ is fixed and ν goes to infinity in the countable discrete space \mathbb{GT}_N , then $\Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa) \to 0$. Equivalently, the map $f \mapsto \Lambda_K^N f$ is a continuous (actually contractive) operator $C_0(\mathbb{GT}_K) \to C_0(\mathbb{GT}_N)$, so that Λ_K^N is Feller.

Proof. Because of (2.1) it suffices to prove the assertion of the proposition in the particular case when K = N - 1. The classic Weyl's dimension formula says that

$$Dim_N \nu = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le N} \frac{\nu_i - \nu_j + j - i}{j - i}.$$
 (2.15)

Therefore, for $\varkappa \prec \nu$

$$\Lambda_{N-1}^{N}(\nu, \varkappa) = \frac{(N-1)! \prod_{1 \le i < j \le N-1} (\varkappa_i - \varkappa_j + j - i)}{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le N} (\nu_i - \nu_j + j - i)},$$
(2.16)

otherwise $\Lambda_{N-1}^N(\nu,\varkappa)=0$.

Fix \varkappa and assume ν is such that $\varkappa \prec \nu$. Then $\nu \to \infty$ is equivalent to either $\nu_1 \to +\infty$, or $\nu_N \to -\infty$, or both; all other coordinates of ν must remain bounded because of the interlacing condition $\varkappa \prec \nu$. But then it is immediate that at least one of the factors in the denominator of (2.16) tends to infinity. Thus, the ratio goes to 0 as needed.

2.7. **Totality of** $\{\varphi_{\nu}\}$. Given $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, write the expansion of $S_{\nu}(u_1, \ldots, u_N)$ in monomials,

$$S_{\nu}(u_1,\ldots,u_N) = \sum c(\nu; n_1,\ldots,n_N) u_1^{n_1}\ldots u_N^{n_N},$$

where the sum is over N-tuples of integers (n_1, \ldots, n_N) with

$$n_1 + \dots + n_N = \nu_1 + \dots + \nu_N.$$

Obviously, the sum is actually finite. Further, the coefficients are nonnegative integers: they are nothing else than the weight multiplicities of the irreducible representation of U(N) indexed by ν . In purely combinatorial way, this can be also deduced from the branching rule for the characters: it follows that $c(\nu; n_1, \ldots, n_N)$ equals the number of triangular Gelfand–Tsetlin schemes $\{\lambda_i^{(j)}: 1 \leq i \leq j \leq N\}$ with the top row $\lambda^{(N)} = \nu$ and such that

$$\left(\lambda_1^{(j)} + \dots + \lambda_j^{(j)}\right) - \left(\lambda_1^{(j-1)} + \dots + \lambda_{j-1}^{(j-1)}\right) = \nu_j, \quad j = 2, \dots, N.$$

By virtue of Proposition 2.10, the functions $\varphi_n(\omega)$ lie in $C_0(\Omega)$. Therefore, the same holds for the functions $\varphi_{\nu}(\omega)$.

The results of the next proposition and its corollary are similar to [Vo76, Lemme 3], and the main idea of the proof is the same.

Proposition 2.13. For any N = 1, 2, ... and any N-tuple $(n_1, ..., n_N) \in \mathbb{Z}^N$,

$$\varphi_{n_1}(\omega)\dots\varphi_{n_N}(\omega) = \sum_{\nu} c(\nu; n_1, \dots, n_N)\varphi_{\nu}(\omega),$$
 (2.17)

where the series in the right-hand side converges in the norm topology of the Banach space $C_0(\Omega)$.

Proof. First, let us show that (2.17) holds pointwise. Indeed, this follows from the comparison of the following two expansions:

$$\Phi(u_1; \omega) \dots \Phi(u_n; \omega) = \sum_{(n_1, \dots, n_N) \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \varphi_{n_1}(\omega) \dots \varphi_{n_N}(\omega) u_1^{n_1} \dots u_N^{n_N}$$
$$= \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} \varphi_{\nu}(\omega) S_{\nu}(u_1, \dots, u_N).$$

Next, as all the functions in (2.17) are continuous and the summands in the right-hand side are nonnegative, the series converges uniformly on compact subsets of Ω .

Finally, as all the functions vanish at infinity, monotone convergence also implies convergence in norm. \Box

Corollary 2.14. The family $\{\varphi_{\nu} : \nu \in \mathbb{GT}\}$ is total in the Banach space $C_0(\Omega)$, that is, the linear span of these functions is dense.

Proof. Let $\Omega \cup \{\infty\}$ denote the one-point compactification of Ω . It suffices to show that the family $\{\varphi_{\nu} : \nu \in \mathbb{GT}\}$ together with the constant 1 is total in the real Banach algebra $C(\Omega \cup \{\infty\})$. By Proposition 2.13, the linear span of the family contains the subalgebra generated by 1 and the functions $\varphi_n(\omega)$. By virtue of Proposition 2.5, this subalgebra separates points of Ω . Next, for any fixed $\omega \in \Omega$, the function $u \to \Phi(u; \omega)$ cannot be identically equal to 1, which implies that all the functions φ_n cannot vanish at ω simultaneously. On the other hand, recall that they vanish at ∞ . This means that our subalgebra separates points of $\Omega \cup \{\infty\}$, too. Therefore, we may apply the Stone-Weierstrass theorem.

2.8. Description of the boundary.

Theorem 2.15. For an arbitrary coherent system $\{M_K : K = 1, 2, ...\}$ of distributions on the graph \mathbb{GT} there exists a probability Borel measure M on Ω such that

$$M_K = M\Lambda_K^{\infty}, \qquad K = 1, 2, \dots, \tag{2.18}$$

that is,

$$M_K(\varkappa) = \int_{\Omega} M(d\omega) \Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega, \varkappa), \qquad \varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K, \quad K = 1, 2, \dots,$$

where $\Lambda_K^{\infty}: \Omega \longrightarrow \mathbb{GT}_K$ is the Markov kernel defined in subsection 2.5.

Such a measure is unique, and any probability Borel measure M on Ω gives rise in this way to a coherent system.

In Section 3 we reduce Theorem 2.15 to Theorem 3.1 whose proof in turn is given in the subsequent sections.

Let us say that M is the boundary measure of a given coherent system $\{M_K\}$

By virtue of the theorem, the boundary measures of the extreme coherent systems are exactly the delta measures on Ω . Therefore, the theorem implies

Corollary 2.16. There exists a bijection $\partial(\mathbb{GT}) \leftrightarrow \Omega$, under which the extreme coherent system $\{M_K^{(\omega)}: K=1,2,\ldots\}$ corresponding to a point $\omega \in \Omega$ is given by formula

$$M_K^{(\omega)}(\varkappa) = \Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega, \varkappa), \qquad \varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K, \quad K = 1, 2, \dots$$

Conversely, the theorem can be derived from the result of the corollary: the necessary arguments can be found in [Vo76, Théorème 2] and [Ols03, Theorems 9.1 and 9.2].

3. The Uniform Approximation Theorem

Recall the definition of the modified Frobenius coordinates of a Young diagram λ (see [VK81]): First, introduce the conventional Frobenius coordinates of λ :

$$p_i = \lambda_i - i, \quad q_i = (\lambda')_i - i, \qquad i = 1, \dots, d(\nu),$$

where λ' stands for the transposed diagram and $d(\lambda)$ denotes the number of diagonal boxes of a Young diagram λ . The modified Frobenius coordinates differ from the conventional ones by addition of one-halves:

$$a_i = p_i + \frac{1}{2}, \quad b_i = q_i + \frac{1}{2}.$$

Next, it is convenient to set

$$a_i = b_i = 0, \qquad i > d(\lambda),$$

which makes it possible to assume that index i ranges over $\{1, 2, ...\}$. Note that $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (a_i + b_i) = |\lambda|$, where $|\lambda|$ denotes the total number of boxes in λ .

Using the modified Frobenius coordinates we define for every N=1,2,... an embedding $\mathbb{GT}_N \hookrightarrow \Omega$ in the following way. Let $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ be given. We represent ν as a pair (ν^+, ν^-) of partitions or, equivalently, Young diagrams: ν^+ consists of positive ν_i 's, ν^- consists of minus negative ν_i 's, and zeros can go in either of the two:

$$\nu = (\nu_1^+, \nu_2^+, \dots, -\nu_2^-, \nu_1^-).$$

Write a_i^{\pm}, b_i^{\pm} for the modified Frobenius coordinates of ν^{\pm} . Then we assign to ν the point $\omega(\nu) \in \Omega$ with coordinates

$$\alpha_i^{\pm} = \frac{a_i^{\pm}}{N}, \quad \beta_i^{\pm} = \frac{b_i^{\pm}}{N} \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots), \quad \delta^{\pm} = \frac{|\nu^{\pm}|}{N}.$$

Clearly, the correspondence $\mathbb{GT}_N \ni \nu \mapsto \omega(\nu)$ is indeed an embedding. The image of \mathbb{GT}_N under this embedding is a locally finite set in Ω : its intersection with any relatively compact subset is finite.

Note also that for points $\omega = \omega(\nu)$, δ^{\pm} exactly equals $\sum (\alpha_i^{\pm} + \beta_i^{\pm})$.

Theorem 3.1 (Uniform Approximation Theorem). For any fixed K = 1, 2, ... and $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sup_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} \left| \Lambda_K^N(\nu, \varkappa) - \Lambda^\infty(\omega(\nu), \varkappa) \right| = 0.$$
 (3.1)

Derivation of Theorem 2.15 from Theorem 3.1. We will verify the assertions of Theorem 2.15 in the reverse order.

The fact that any probability Borel measure M on Ω serves as the boundary measure of a coherent system $\{M_K : K = 1, 2, ...\}$ is obvious from (2.13).

Next, if a coherent system $\{M_K\}$ has a boundary measure on Ω , then its uniqueness directly follows from Corollary 2.14. Indeed, here we use the fact that the space of finite signed measures on Ω is dual to the Banach space $C_0(\Omega)$.

Now let us deduce from Theorem 3.1 the existence of the boundary measure for every coherent system $\{M_K\}$.

Write the compatibility relation for our coherent system,

$$M_N \Lambda_K^N = M_K, \qquad N > K,$$

in the form

$$\langle M_N, \Lambda_K^N(\cdot, \varkappa) \rangle = M_K(\varkappa), \qquad N > K, \quad \varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K,$$

where $\Lambda_K^N(\,\cdot\,,\varkappa)$ is viewed as the function $\nu\mapsto\Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa)$ on \mathbb{GT}_N and the angle brackets denote the canonical pairing between measures and functions.

Denote by M_N the pushforward of M_N under the embedding $\mathbb{GT}_N \hookrightarrow \Omega$ defined by $\nu \mapsto \omega(\nu)$; this is a probability measure on Ω supported by the subset

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{GT}_N} := \{ \omega(\nu) : \nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N \} \subset \Omega.$$

Next, regard $\Lambda_K^N(\nu, \varkappa)$ as a function of variable ω ranging over $\widetilde{\mathbb{GT}_N}$ and denote this function by $\widetilde{\Lambda}_K^N(\cdot, \varkappa)$. Then we may write the above compatibility relation as

$$\langle \widetilde{M}_N, \, \widetilde{\Lambda}_K^N(\,\cdot\,, \varkappa) \rangle = M_K(\varkappa), \qquad N > K. \quad \varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K,$$

By virtue of Theorem 3.1, for any $\omega \in \widetilde{\mathbb{GT}_N}$

$$\widetilde{\Lambda}_K^N(\omega, \varkappa) = \Lambda_K^\infty(\omega, \varkappa) + o(1), \qquad N \gg K,$$

where the remainder term o(1) depends on \varkappa but is uniform on $\omega \in \widetilde{\mathbb{GT}_N}$. Since \widetilde{M}_N is a probability measure, we get

$$\langle \widetilde{M}_N, \Lambda_K^{\infty}(\cdot, \varkappa) \rangle = M_K(\varkappa) + o(1), \qquad N \gg K.$$
 (3.2)

The space Ω is not only locally compact but also metrizable and separable. Therefore, any sequence of probability measures on Ω always has a nonvoid set of partial limits in the vague topology (which is nothing else than the weak-* topology of the Banach dual to $C_0(\Omega)$). Note that, in general, it may happen that such limits are sub-probability measures (the total mass is strictly less than 1).

So, let M be any partial vague limit of the sequence $\{\widetilde{M}_N\}$. Passing to the limit in (3.2) along an appropriate subsequence of indices N we get

$$\langle M, \Lambda_K^{\infty}(\cdot, \varkappa) \rangle = M_K(\varkappa), \qquad K = 1, 2, \dots, \quad \varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K,$$
 (3.3)

which is equivalent to the desired relation (2.18).

Finally, once relation (2.18) is established, M must be a probability measure because otherwise the total mass of M_K would be strictly less than 1, which is impossible.

The rest of the section is a comment to Theorem 3.1, and the proof of the theorem is given next in Sections 4-8.

Recall that both $\Lambda_K^N(\nu, \varkappa)$ and $\Lambda_K^\infty(\omega, \varkappa)$ involve one and the same common factor $\operatorname{Dim}_K \varkappa$:

$$\Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa) = \operatorname{Dim}_K \varkappa \cdot \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu}, \qquad \Lambda_K^\infty(\omega,\varkappa) = \operatorname{Dim}_K \varkappa \cdot \varphi_\nu(\omega).$$

As ν varies together with N, this factor remains intact. For this reason, in what follows, we ignore it and study the relative dimension

$$\frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu}.$$
(3.4)

Incidentally, we get explicit formulas for this quantity (see Theorem 7.2 and its modification, Proposition 7.3).

Remark 3.2. Recall that for the denominator in (3.4) there is a simple expression, (2.15). Let us also write down an expression for the numerator. Assume that \varkappa and ν are as in Theorem 3.1, and assume additionally that $\varkappa_K \geq \nu_N$ (otherwise $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)=0$). Define partitions $\bar{\nu}$ and $\bar{\varkappa}$ as follows:

$$\bar{\nu} = (\nu_1 - \nu_N, \dots, \nu_{N-1} - \nu_N, 0, 0, \dots)$$

 $\bar{\varkappa} = (\varkappa_1 - \nu_N, \dots, \varkappa_{K-1} - \nu_N, 0, 0, \dots).$

We will also assume that $\bar{\nu}_i \geq \bar{\varkappa}_i$ for all $i = 1, 2, \ldots$ (otherwise $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa, \nu) = 0$). This enables us to define the skew Schur function $S_{\bar{\nu}/\bar{\varkappa}}$. Then one has

$$\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu) = S_{\bar{\nu}/\bar{\varkappa}}(\underbrace{1,\ldots,1}_{N-K}) = \det \left[h_{\bar{\nu}_i - \bar{\varkappa}_j - i + j}(\underbrace{1,\ldots,1}_{N-K}) \right]$$
(3.5)

where the order of the determinant is any number greater than or equal to $\ell(\bar{\nu})$ (the number of nonzero coordinates in $\bar{\nu}$) and

$$h_m(\underbrace{1,\dots,1}_{N-K}) = \begin{cases} \frac{(m+N-K-1)!}{m!(N-K-1)!}, & m \ge 0\\ 0, & m < 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

(The proof of the first equality in (3.5) is an easy exercise, and the remaining equalities are standard facts.)

Combining (2.15), (3.5), and (3.6) we get a closed expression for the relative dimension (3.4). However, it is unclear how one could use it for the problem of asymptotic analysis that we need. The formulas of Section 7, on the contrary, are difficult to prove, but they have the advantage to be well adapted to asymptotic analysis. Another their advantage is that they involve determinants of order K, while the order of determinant in (3.5) is generically N-1. Because of this, for $N \gg K$ and generic ν the formulas of Section 7 seem to be more efficient than (3.5) from the purely computational viewpoint, too.

4. A Cauchy-type identity

The classical Cauchy identity for the Schur symmetric functions is

$$\prod_{i,j} \frac{1}{1 - x_i y_j} = \sum_{\mu} S_{\mu}(x_1, x_2, \dots) S_{\mu}(y_1, y_2, \dots),$$

see e.g. [Ma95, Section I.4]. Here summation is over all partitions μ and $S_{\mu}(x_1, x_2, ...)$ denotes the Schur function indexed by μ . For finitely many indeterminates the identity takes the form

$$\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{j=1}^{K} \frac{1}{1 - x_i y_j} = \sum_{\ell(\mu) \le \min(N, K)} S_{\mu}(x_1, \dots, x_N) S_{\mu}(y_1, \dots, y_K). \tag{4.1}$$

Here the Schur functions turn into the Schur polynomials and $\ell(\mu)$ denotes the length of partition μ , i.e. the number of its nonzero parts.

The purpose of this section is to derive an analog of identity (4.1) where the Schur polynomials in x's are replaced by the shifted Schur polynomials [OO97a], and the Schur polynomials in y's are replaced by other Schur-type functions, the dual symmetric Schur functions [Mo09]. Let us give their definition.

The shifted Schur polynomial with N variables and index μ is given by formula

$$S_{\mu}^{*}(x_{1},...,x_{N}) = \frac{\det[(x_{i}+N-i)^{\downarrow\mu_{j}+N-j}]}{\prod_{i< j}(x_{i}-x_{j}-i+j)},$$

Here indices i and j range over $\{1, \ldots, N\}$, and $x^{\downarrow m}$ is our notation for the mth falling factorial power of variable x,

$$x^{\downarrow m} = \frac{\Gamma(x+1)}{\Gamma(x+1-m)} = x(x-1)\dots(x-m+1). \tag{4.2}$$

The polynomial $S^*_{\mu}(x_1,\ldots,x_N)$ is symmetric in shifted variables $x'_i:=x_i-i$, and one has

$$S_{\mu}^*(x_1,\ldots,x_N) = S_{\mu}(x_1',\ldots,x_N') + \text{lower degree terms.}$$

This implies that, as functions in shifted variables x'_1, \ldots, x'_N , the polynomials S^*_{μ} form a basis in the ring $\mathbb{C}[x'_1, \ldots, x'_N]^{\text{sym}}$ of N-variate symmetric polynomials. For more detail, see [OO97a].

By the dual Schur symmetric function in K variables with index μ we mean the following function

$$\sigma_{\mu}(t_1, \dots, t_K) = (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \frac{\det \left[\frac{\Gamma(t_i + j - \mu_j)}{\Gamma(t_i + 1)} \right]}{\prod_{i < j} (t_i - t_j)},$$
(4.3)

where i and j range over $\{1, \ldots, K\}$ and the matrix in the numerator is of order K. The (i, j) entry of this matrix is a rational function in variable t_i , so that σ_{μ} is a rational function in t_1, \ldots, t_K . Clearly, it is symmetric.

Let $\mathbb{C}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)^{\operatorname{sym}}\subset\mathbb{C}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)$ denote the subfield of symmetric rational functions and $\mathbb{C}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)^{\operatorname{sym}}\subset\mathbb{C}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)^{\operatorname{sym}}$ be the subspace of functions regular about the point $(t_1,\ldots,t_K)=(\infty,\ldots,\infty)$. We will also regard the space $\mathbb{C}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)^{\operatorname{sym}}$ as a subspace in $\mathbb{C}[[t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1}]]^{\operatorname{sym}}$, the ring of symmetric formal power series in variables t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1} . There is a canonical topology in this ring: the I-adic topology determined by the ideal I of the series without the constant term. The Schur polynomials in t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1} form a topological basis in $\mathbb{C}[[t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1}]]^{\operatorname{sym}}$, meaning that every element of the ring is uniquely represented as an infinite series in these polynomials.

We claim that functions σ_{μ} belong to $\mathbb{C}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathrm{reg}}$ and form another topological basis in the ring $\mathbb{C}[[t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1}]]^{\mathrm{sym}}$. Indeed, σ_{μ} is evidently symmetric. To analyze its behavior about (∞,\ldots,∞) , set $y_i:=t_i^{-1}$ and observe that

$$\frac{(-1)^{K(K-1)/2}}{\prod_{i < j} (t_i - t_j)} = \frac{(y_1 \dots y_K)^{K-1}}{\prod_{i < j} (y_i - y_j)}$$

and

$$y_i^{K-1} \frac{\Gamma(t_i + j - \mu_j)}{\Gamma(t_i + 1)} = y_i^{\mu_j + K - j} + \text{higher degree terms in } y_i.$$

It follows that

$$\sigma_{\mu}(t_1,\ldots,t_K) = S_{\mu}(y_1,\ldots,y_K) + \text{higher degree terms in } y_1,\ldots,y_K,$$

which entails our claim.

Note that functions σ_{μ} are a special case of more general *multi-parameter* dual Schur functions defined in [Mo09].

In the definitions above we tacitly assumed that $\ell(\mu)$ does not exceed the number of variables; otherwise the corresponding function is set to be equal to zero. Under this convention the following *stability property* holds:

$$S_{\mu}^{*}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N})\big|_{x_{N}=0} = S_{\mu}^{*}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N-1}), \quad \sigma_{\mu}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{K})\big|_{t_{K}=\infty} = \sigma_{\mu}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{K-1}).$$

Both relations are verified in the same way as the stability property for the ordinary Schur polynomials. The detailed argument for the first relation can be found in [OO97a, Proposition 1.3].

Proposition 4.1 (Cauchy-type identity, cf. (4.1)). One has

$$\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{j=1}^{K} \frac{t_j + i}{t_j + i - x_i} = \sum_{\ell(\mu) \le \min(N, K)} S_{\mu}^*(x_1, \dots, x_N) \sigma_{\mu}(t_1, \dots, t_K).$$
 (4.4)

Here the infinite series in the right-hand side is the expansion with respect to the topological basis $\{\sigma_{\mu}\}$ of $(\mathbb{C}[x_1,\ldots,x_N]^{\text{sym}})[[t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1}]]^{\text{sym}}$, the topological ring of symmetric formal power series in variables t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1} with coefficient ring $\mathbb{C}[x_1,\ldots,x_N]^{\text{sym}}$. A more general form of the identity can be found in [Mo09].

Proof. It suffices to prove (4.4) for N = K. Indeed, the general case is immediately reduced to this one by making use of the stability property by adding a few extra variables x_i or t_j and then specializing them to 0 or ∞ , respectively. Thus, in what follows we will assume N = K.

In the simplest case $N=K=1,\,(4.4)$ takes the form

$$\frac{t+1}{t+1-x} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{\downarrow m}}{t^{\downarrow m}},\tag{4.5}$$

which is just formula (12.3) in [OO97a].

Using (4.5) we will reduce the case N = K > 1 of (4.4) to Cauchy's determinant formula. Indeed, set $x'_i = x_i + K - i$, $m_i = \mu_i + K - i$, and denote by symbol $V(\cdot)$ the Vandermonde in K variables. Multiplying the right-hand side of (4.4) by $V(x'_1, \ldots, x'_K)V(t_1, \ldots, t_K)$ we transform it to

$$(-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{j=1}^{K} \frac{\Gamma(t_j + K)}{\Gamma(t_j + 1)} \sum_{m_1 > \dots > m_K > 0} \det \left[x_i^{\prime \downarrow m_j} \right] \det \left[\frac{1}{(t_i + K - 1)^{\downarrow m_j}} \right], \quad (4.6)$$

where both determinants are of order K.

A well-known trick allows one to write the sum in the right-hand side as a single determinant:

$$\sum_{m_1 > \dots > m_K > 0} \det \left[x_i'^{\downarrow m_j} \right] \det \left[\frac{1}{(t_i + K - 1)^{\downarrow m_j}} \right] = \det[A(i, j)]$$

with

$$A(i,j) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{x_i'^{\downarrow m}}{(t_j + K - 1)^{\downarrow m}} = \frac{t_j + K}{t_j + K - x_i'},$$

where the last equality follows from (4.5).

By Cauchy's determinant formula,

$$\det[A(i,j)] = (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{i=1}^{K} (t_j + K) \cdot \frac{V(x_1', \dots, x_K')V(t_1, \dots, t_K)}{\prod_{i,j} (t_j + K - x_i')}.$$
 (4.7)

Observe that $t_j + K - x_i' = t_j + i - x_i$. Taking this into account and plugging in (4.7) instead of the sum in (4.6) we see that the plus-minus sign disappears and the resulting expression for (4.6) coincides with the left-hand side of (4.4) (for N = K) multiplied by the same product of two Vandermonde determinants. This concludes the proof.

5. A GENERATING FUNCTION FOR THE RELATIVE DIMENSION

Throughout this section we assume that $N \geq K$ are two natural numbers, \varkappa ranges over \mathbb{GT}_K and ν ranges over \mathbb{GT}_N .

Set

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{K}) = (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{i=1}^{K} \frac{(N-K)!}{(N-K+i-1)!} \times \frac{\det\left[\frac{\Gamma(t_{i}+1+N)\Gamma(t_{i}+j-\varkappa_{j})}{\Gamma(t_{i}+1)\Gamma(t_{i}+j-\varkappa_{j}+N-K+1)}\right]}{V(t_{1},\ldots,t_{K})},$$
(5.1)

where the determinant is of order K and $V(t_1, \ldots, t_K) = \prod_{i < j} (t_i - t_j)$, as above. The (i, j) entry of the matrix in the numerator is a rational function in t_i , which entails that $\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1, \ldots, t_K)$ is an element of $\mathbb{C}(t_1, \ldots, t_K)^{\text{sym}}$. Moreover, it is contained in $\mathbb{C}(t_1, \ldots, t_K)^{\text{sym}}$; this is readily verified by passing to variables $y_i = t_i^{-1}$, as we already did in the case of σ_{μ} , see Section 4.

Next, in accordance with [OO97a, (12.3)], we set

$$H^*(t; \nu) = \prod_{j=1}^{N} \frac{t+j}{t+j-\nu_j}$$

and more generally

$$H^*(t_1,\ldots,t_K;\nu) = H^*(t_1;\nu)\ldots H^*(t_K;\nu).$$

For ν fixed, $H^*(t_1, \ldots, t_K; \nu)$ is obviously an element of $\mathbb{C}(t_1, \ldots, t_K)^{\text{sym}}_{\text{reg}}$, too.

Finally, recall the notation $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)$ and $\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu$ introduced in subsection 2.1 We agree that $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,K}(\varkappa,\nu)$ is the Kronecker delta $\delta_{\varkappa\nu}$.

The purpose of this section is to prove the following claim.

Proposition 5.1. Let $N \geq K$. For any fixed $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, the function $H^*(t_1, \ldots, t_K; \nu)$ can be uniquely expanded into a finite linear combination of the functions $\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1, \ldots, t_K)$, and this expansion takes the form

$$H^*(t_1, \dots, t_K; \nu) = \sum_{\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa, \nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu} \mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa | N}(t_1, \dots, t_K).$$
 (5.2)

We regard this as a generating function for the quantities $\text{Dim}(\varkappa, \nu)/\text{Dim}\,\nu$. In the case $K=1, \varkappa$ is simply an integer k, and the above expansion turns into

$$H^*(t;\nu) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(k,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu} \frac{(t+1)\dots(t+N)}{(t+1-k)\dots(t+N-k)}$$
$$= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(k,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu} H^*(t;(k^N)),$$

where $(k^N) = (k, \ldots, k) \in \mathbb{GT}_N$.

Proof. The proof is rather long and will be divided in a few steps. In what follows μ always stands for an arbitrary partition with $\ell(\mu) \leq K$.

Step 1. Set

$$(N)_{\mu} = \prod_{i=1}^{\ell(\mu)} (N-i+1)_{\mu_i} = \prod_{i=1}^{\ell(\mu)} (N-i+1) \dots (N-i+\mu_i)$$
 (5.3)

and note that $(N)_{\mu} \neq 0$ because $N \geq K \geq \ell(\mu)$.

Let

$$D_{K,N}: \mathbb{C}[[t_1^{-1}, \dots, t_K^{-1}]]^{\text{sym}} \to \mathbb{C}[[t_1^{-1}, \dots, t_K^{-1}]]^{\text{sym}}$$

denote the linear operator defined on the topological basis $\{\sigma_{\mu}\}$ by

$$D_{N,K}: \sigma_{\mu} \to \frac{(N)_{\mu}}{(K)_{\mu}} \sigma_{\mu}. \tag{5.4}$$

We claim that

$$H^*(t_1, \dots, t_K; \nu) = \sum_{\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K} \Lambda_K^N(\nu, \varkappa) D_{N,K} H^*(t_1, \dots, t_K; \varkappa).$$
 (5.5)

This is interpreted as an equality in $\mathbb{C}[[t_1^{-1},\ldots,t_K^{-1}]]^{\text{sym}}$. Note that the sum is finite because for ν fixed, the quantity $\Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa)$ does not vanish only for finitely many \varkappa 's.

Indeed, by virtue of (4.4) we have

$$H^*(t_1, \dots, t_k; \nu) = \sum_{\mu} S^*_{\mu}(\nu_1, \dots, \nu_N) \sigma_{\mu}(t_1, \dots, t_K)$$

and likewise

$$H^*(t_1,\ldots,t_k;\varkappa)=\sum_{\mu}S_{\mu}^*(\varkappa_1,\ldots,\varkappa_K)\sigma_{\mu}(t_1,\ldots,t_K).$$

Therefore, (5.5) is equivalent to

$$\frac{S_{\mu}^*(\nu_1,\dots,\nu_N)}{(N)_{\mu}} = \sum_{\varkappa} \Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa) \frac{S_{\varkappa}^*(\varkappa_1,\dots,\varkappa_K)}{(K)_{\mu}}.$$
 (5.6)

But (5.6) follows from the *coherence relation* for the shifted Schur polynomials, which says that

$$\frac{S_{\mu}^*(\nu_1,\dots,\nu_N)}{(N)_{\mu}} = \sum_{\lambda:\lambda\prec\nu} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{N-1}\lambda}{\operatorname{Dim}_N\nu} \frac{S_{\mu}^*(\lambda_1,\dots,\lambda_{N-1})}{(N-1)_{\mu}}.$$
 (5.7)

See [OO97a, (10.30)], which coincides with (5.7) within an obvious change of notation. To deduce (5.6) from (5.7) we use induction on N. For the initial value N=K, (5.6) is trivial (with the understanding that Λ_K^K is the identity matrix), and the induction step is implemented by (5.7), because $\Lambda_K^N(\nu, \varkappa)$ satisfies the same recursion

$$\Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa) = \sum_{\lambda:\lambda\prec\nu} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{N-1}\lambda}{\operatorname{Dim}_N\nu} \,\Lambda_K^{N-1}(\lambda,\varkappa), \qquad N>K.$$

This completes the proof of (5.5).

Step 2. Our next goal is to prove the equality

$$\frac{\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)}{\operatorname{Dim}_K\varkappa} = D_{N,K}H^*(t_1,\ldots,t_K;\varkappa). \tag{5.8}$$

Then (5.2) will immediately follow from (5.5). Note that (5.8) does not involve ν . On this step we will check that (5.8) holds for N = K, that is

$$\frac{\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|K}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)}{\operatorname{Dim}_K\varkappa} = H^*(t_1,\ldots,t_K;\varkappa). \tag{5.9}$$

By virtue of (5.1), the left-hand side of (5.9) equals

$$\frac{(-1)^{K(K-1)/2}}{\prod_{i=1}^{K}(K-1)! \cdot \operatorname{Dim}_{K} \varkappa \cdot V(t_{1}, \dots, t_{k})} \det \left[\frac{\Gamma(t_{i}+1+K)\Gamma(t_{i}+j-\varkappa_{j})}{\Gamma(t_{i}+1)\Gamma(t_{i}+j-\varkappa_{j}+1)} \right].$$

Setting $k_j = \varkappa_j - j$, $j = 1, \ldots, K$, this expression can be easily transformed to

$$\frac{(-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{i,j=1}^{K} (t_i + j)}{V(k_1, \dots, k_K) V(t_1, \dots, t_k)} \det \left[\frac{1}{t_i - k_j} \right].$$

Since

$$\det\left[\frac{1}{t_i - k_j}\right] = \frac{(-1)^{K(K-1)/2}V(k_1, \dots, k_K)V(t_1, \dots, t_k)}{\prod_{i,j}(t_i - k_j)},$$

the final result is

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^K \frac{t_i+j}{t_i+j-\varkappa_j} = H^*(t_1,\ldots,t_K;\varkappa),$$

as desired.

Step 3. By virtue of Step 2, to prove (5.8) it suffices to show that

$$\frac{\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}}{\operatorname{Dim}_{K}\varkappa} = D_{N,K} \left(\frac{\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|K}}{\operatorname{Dim}_{K}\varkappa} \right),$$

or, equivalently,

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N} = D_{N,K} \mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}. \tag{5.10}$$

A possible approach would consist in computing explicitly the expansion

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\ldots,t_K) = \sum_{\mu} C(\mu;N)\sigma_{\mu}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)$$

from which one could see that the coefficients satisfy the relation

$$C(\mu; N) = \frac{(N)_{\mu}}{(K)_{\mu}} C(\mu; K).$$

However, we did not work out this approach. Instead of it we adopt the following strategy: From the definition of $D_{N,K}$, see (5.4), it is clear that it suffices to prove that

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N} = D_{N,N-1}\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N-1}, \quad \forall N > K. \tag{5.11}$$

To do this we will show that $D_{N,N-1}$ can be implemented by a certain difference operator in variables (t_1, \ldots, t_K) . Then this will allow us to easily verify (5.11).

On this step we find the difference operator in question:

$$D_{N,N-1} = \frac{1}{(N-1)^{\downarrow K}} \frac{1}{V} \circ \prod_{i=1}^{K} (t_i + N - (t_i + 1)\tau_i)) \circ V, \tag{5.12}$$

where V is the operator of multiplication by $V(t_1, \ldots, t_K)$, and τ_i is the shift operator

$$(\tau f)(t) := f(t+1).$$

acting on variable t_i .

To verify that (5.12) agrees with the initial definition of $D_{N,N-1}$, see (5.4), we have to prove that the difference operator in the right-hand side of (5.12) acts on σ_{μ} as multiplication by $(N)_{\mu}/(N-1)_{\mu}$.

By the very definition of $(N)_{\mu}$, see (5.3),

$$\frac{(N)_{\mu}}{(N-1)_{\mu}} = \prod_{j=1}^{K} \frac{N-j+\mu_j}{N-j} = \frac{1}{(N-1)^{\downarrow K}} \prod_{j=1}^{N} (N-j+\mu_j).$$

Taking into account the same factor $1/(N-1)^{\downarrow K}$ in front of (5.12) and the definition of σ_{μ} given in (4.3), we see that the desired claim reduces to the following one: the action of the difference operator

$$\prod_{i=1}^{K} (t_i + N - (t_i + 1)\tau_i))$$

on the function

$$\det\left[\frac{\Gamma(t_i+j-\mu_j)}{\Gamma(t_i+1)}\right]$$

amounts to multiplication by $\prod_{j=1}^{N} (N-j+\mu_j)$. This in turn reduces to the following claim, which is easily verified:

$$(t+N-(t+1)\tau)\,\frac{\Gamma(t-m)}{\Gamma(t+1)}\ =\ (N+m)\,\frac{\Gamma(t-m)}{\Gamma(t+1)},\quad \forall m\in\mathbb{Z}.$$

This completes the proof of (5.12).

Step 4. Here we will establish (5.11) with the difference operator defined by (5.12). By the definition of $\mathfrak{S}_{\mu|N}$, see (5.1), we have to prove that operator

$$\prod_{i=1}^{K} (t_i + N - (t_i + 1)\tau_i))$$

sends function

$$\det \left[\frac{\Gamma(t_i + N)\Gamma(t_i + j - \varkappa_j)}{\Gamma(t_i + 1)\Gamma(t_i + j - \varkappa_j + N - K)} \right]$$

to

$$(N-K)^K \cdot \det \left[\frac{\Gamma(t_i+1+N)\Gamma(t_i+j-\varkappa_j)}{\Gamma(t_i+1)\Gamma(t_i+j-\varkappa_j+N-K+1)} \right].$$

This reduces to the following claim, which is easily verified: for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$(t+N-(t+1)\tau))\frac{\Gamma(t+N)\Gamma(t-k)}{\Gamma(t+1)\Gamma(t-k+N-K)} = (N-K)\frac{\Gamma(t+1+N)\Gamma(t-k)}{\Gamma(t+1)\Gamma(t-k+N-K+1)}.$$

Thus we have completed the proof of expansion (5.2).

Step 5. It remains to prove the uniqueness claim of the proposition. That is, to prove that the functions $\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)$ with N fixed and parameter \varkappa ranging over \mathbb{GT}_K are linearly independent. It suffices to do this for the minimal value N=K,

because of relation (5.10) and the fact that operator $D_{N,K}$ is invertible. Next, by virtue of (5.9), this is equivalent to the claim that the functions $H^*(t_1, \ldots, t_K; \varkappa)$ are linearly independent.

Recall that

$$H^*(t_1,\ldots,t_K;\varkappa)=H^*(t_1;\varkappa)\ldots H^*(t_K;\varkappa),$$

where

$$H^*(t; \varkappa) = \prod_{j=1}^K \frac{t+j}{t+j-\varkappa_j}.$$

The numerators of the fractions do not depend on \varkappa and so may be ignored. Set $k_j = \varkappa_j - j$ and observe that $k_1 > \cdots > k_K$. Thus, we are led to the claim that the family of the functions

$$f_{k_1,\dots,k_K}(t_1,\dots,t_K) := \prod_{i=1}^K \prod_{j=1}^K \frac{1}{t_i - k_j}$$

depending on an arbitrary K-tuple $k_1 > \cdots > k_K$ of integers is linearly independent. But this is obvious, because for given a K-tuple of parameters, the corresponding function $f_{k_1,\ldots,k_K}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)$ can be characterized as the only function of the family that has a nonzero multidimensional residue at $t_1 = k_1,\ldots,t_K = k_K$.

The next proposition is used in informal Remark 5.3 below and then in the proof of Proposition 8.1.

Proposition 5.2. We have

$$H^*(t;\nu) = \Phi(u;\omega(\nu)), \tag{5.13}$$

provided that variables t and u are related by the mutually inverse linear-fractional transformations

$$t = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{N}{u-1}, \qquad u = 1 + \frac{N}{t + \frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (5.14)

Proof. Recall that $\omega(\nu)$ is defined in terms of the modified Frobenius coordinates $\{a_i^{\pm}, b_i^{\pm} : 1 \leq i \leq d^{\pm}\}$ of the Young diagrams ν^{\pm} , see the beginning of Section 3. Set

$$\widetilde{\nu}_i = \nu_i + \frac{N+1}{2} - i.$$

That is,

$$(\widetilde{\nu}_i, \dots, \widetilde{\nu}_N) = (\nu_1, \dots, \nu_N) + (\frac{N-1}{2}, \frac{N-1}{2} - 1, \dots, -\frac{N-1}{2} + 1, -\frac{N-1}{2})$$

The next identity follows from [BO05, Proposition 4.1] (cf. [IO03, Proposition 1.2]):

$$\prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{s - \frac{N+1}{2} + i}{s - \widetilde{\nu}_i} = \prod_{i=1}^{d^+} \frac{s - \frac{N}{2} + b_i^+}{s - \frac{N}{2} - a_i^+} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{d^-} \frac{s + \frac{N}{2} - b_i^-}{s + \frac{N}{2} + a_i^-}.$$
 (5.15)

Plug in $s = t + \frac{N+1}{2}$ into (5.15), then the left-hand side equals $H^*(t; \nu)$. Let us transform the right-hand side. Variables s and u are related to each other via

$$s = \frac{N}{2} \cdot \frac{u+1}{u-1}, \qquad u = \frac{s + \frac{N}{2}}{s - \frac{N}{2}}.$$

Recall also that the coordinates of $\omega(\nu)$ are given by

$$\alpha_i^{\pm} = \frac{a_i^{\pm}}{N}, \quad \beta_i^{\pm} = \frac{b_i^{\pm}}{N}, \quad \delta^{\pm} = \frac{|\nu^{\pm}|}{N} = \sum (\alpha_i^{\pm} + \beta_i^{\pm}).$$

From this it is easy to check that the right-hand side of (5.15) equals

$$\prod_{i=1}^{d^+} \frac{1 + \beta_i^+(u-1)}{1 - \alpha_i^+(u-1)} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{d^-} \frac{1 + \beta_i^-(u^{-1}-1)}{1 - \alpha_i^-(u^{-1}-1)} = \Phi(u; \omega(\nu)),$$

as desired.

Remark 5.3. Let variables t_1, \ldots, t_K be related to variables u_1, \ldots, u_K via (5.14). Assume that variables u_i are fixed and N goes to infinity, so that variables t_i grow linearly in N. Then it is easy to check that in this limit regime

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)\to S_{\varkappa}(u_1,\ldots,u_K).$$

Taking into account (5.13) we see that expansion (5.2) mimics expansion (2.8). (We recall that the latter expansion has the form

$$\Phi(u_1; \omega) \dots \Phi(u_K; \omega) = \sum_{\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K} \varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega) S_{\varkappa}(u_1, \dots, u_K)$$
$$= \sum_{\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K} \det[\varphi_{\varkappa_{i-i+j}}(\omega)]_{i,j=1}^K S_{\varkappa}(u_1, \dots, u_K).)$$

This observation makes it plausible that if $N \to \infty$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ varies together with N in such a way that $\omega(\nu)$ converges to a point $\omega \in \Omega$, then the relative dimension $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)/\operatorname{Dim}_N\nu$ tends to $\varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega)$. However, the rigorous proof of this assertion (and of the stronger one stated in the Uniform Convergence Theorem) requires substantial efforts. The first step made in the next section is to obtain a determinantal formula for the relative dimension mimicking the determinantal formula

$$\varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega) = \det[\varphi_{\varkappa_i - i + j}(\omega)]_{i,j=1}^K.$$

6. A Jacobi-Trudi-type formula

The classical Jacobi-Trudi formula expresses the Schur function S_{μ} as a determinant composed from the complete symmetric functions h_m , which are special cases of the Schur functions:

$$S_{\mu} = \det[h_{\mu_i - i + j}].$$

This formula can be obtained in various ways (see e.g. [Ma95, Ch. I, (3.4)], [St99, Section 7.16]). In particular, it can be easily derived from the Cauchy identity (4.1): To do this one multiplies both sides of identity (4.1) by $V_K(y_1, \ldots, y_K)$ and then $S_{\mu}(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ is computed as the coefficient of the monomial $y_1^{\mu_1+K-1}y_2^{\mu_2+K-2}\cdots y_K^{\mu_K}$ (cf. the second proof of Theorem 7.16.1 in [St99]). The same idea, albeit in a somewhat disguised form, is applied in the proof of Proposition 6.2 below.

Observe that the structure of formula (5.1) for the functions $\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}$ is similar to that for the Schur polynomials. This suggests the idea that identity (5.2) may be viewed as a kind of Cauchy identity, so that one may expect a Jacobi-Trudi formula for the quantities $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)/\operatorname{Dim}_N\nu$. The purpose of the present section is to derive such a formula. But first we have to introduce necessary notation.

For a finite interval \mathbb{L} of the lattice \mathbb{Z} , let $V_{\mathbb{L}}$ denote the space of rational functions in variable $t \in \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$, regular everywhere including $t = \infty$, except possible simple poles at some points in $\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathbb{L}$. Thus, $V_{\mathbb{L}}$ is spanned by 1 and the fractions $(t-m)^{-1}$, where m ranges over $\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathbb{L}$.

Lemma 6.1. The functions

$$f_{\mathbb{L},k}(t) = \frac{\prod_{x \in \mathbb{L}} (t - x)}{\prod_{x \in \mathbb{L}} (t - x - k)}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(6.1)

form one more basis in $V_{\mathbb{L}}$.

Proof. Obviously, $f_{\mathbb{L},k}$ is in $V_{\mathbb{L}}$ for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. In particular, $f_{\mathbb{L},0}$ is the constant function 1. On the other hand, given $k = 1, 2, \ldots$, any function in $V_{\mathbb{L}}$ with the only possible poles on the right of \mathbb{L} , at distance at most k from the right endpoint of \mathbb{L} , can be expressed through $f_{\mathbb{L},0},\ldots,f_{\mathbb{L},k}$, as is easily verified by induction on k. Moreover, such an expression is unique. Likewise, the same holds for functions with poles located on the left of \mathbb{L} .

By the lemma, any function $f \in V_{\mathbb{L}}$ is uniquely written as a finite linear combination

$$f = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k f_{\mathbb{L},k}.$$

For the coefficients c_k we will use the notation

$$c_k = (f : f_{\mathbb{L},k}).$$

Set

$$\mathbb{L}(N) = \{-N, \dots, -1\}.$$

From the very definition of the function $H^*(t;\nu)$ one sees that it lies in $V_{\mathbb{L}(N)}$ for every $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$. Consequently, the coefficients $(H^*(\cdot;\nu):f_{\mathbb{L}(N),k})$ are well defined. We also need more general coefficients $(H^*(\cdot;\nu):f_{\mathbb{L},k})$, where \mathbb{L} is a subinterval in $\mathbb{L}(N)$. They are well defined, too, because $V_{\mathbb{L}} \supseteq V_{\mathbb{L}(N)}$.

The coefficients $(H^*(\cdot;\nu):f_{\mathbb{L}(N),k})$ will play the role of the h_k -functions in variables $\nu=(\nu_1,\ldots,\nu_N)$, while more general coefficients $(H^*(\cdot;\nu):f_{\mathbb{L},k})$ should be

interpreted as some modification of those " h_k -functions". It is worth noting that the conventional complete homogeneous symmetric functions are indexed by nonnegative integers, while in our situation the index ranges over the set \mathbb{Z} of all integers.

The purpose of the present section is to prove the following proposition.

Proposition 6.2 (Jacobi-Trudi-type formula). Let $N \geq K \geq 1$, $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, and $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$. For $j = 1, \ldots, K$, set

$$\mathbb{L}(N,j) = \{-N + K - j, \dots, -j\}.$$

One has

$$\frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu} = \det\left[\left(H^{*}(\cdot;\nu): f_{\mathbb{L}(N,j),\varkappa_{i}-i+j}\right)\right]_{i,j=1}^{K},\tag{6.2}$$

Note that the interval $\mathbb{L}(N,j) \subset \mathbb{Z}$ comprises N-K+1 points and is entirely contained in $\mathbb{L}(N)$. As j ranges from 1 to K, this interval moves inside $\mathbb{L}(N)$ from the rightmost possible position to the leftmost one.

In the simplest case K = 1, (6.2) agrees with (5.2). Indeed, then the signature \varkappa is reduced to a single integer $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, and formula (6.2) turns into the following one

$$\frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{1,N}(k,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu} = \left(H^{*}(\cdot;\nu): f_{\mathbb{L}(N),k}\right). \tag{6.3}$$

On the other hand, $f_{\mathbb{L}(N),k}$ coincides with $\mathfrak{S}_{k|N}$, so that (6.3) is a special case of (5.2) corresponding to the univariate case K=1:

$$H^*(t;\nu) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{1,N}(k,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu} \mathfrak{S}_{k|N}(t).$$

A naive Jacobi-Trudi-type generalization of (6.3) to the case K > 1 would consist in taking the determinant

$$\det \left[\left(H^*(\,\cdot\,;\nu) : f_{\mathbb{L}(N),\,\varkappa_i - i + j} \right) \right].$$

But this does not work, and it turns out that we have to appropriately modify the univariate coefficients by shrinking $\mathbb{L}(N)$ to a subinterval which varies together with the column number j.

Note that a similar effect arises in the Jacobi-Trudi-type formula for the shifted Schur functions or other variations of the Schur functions, see [Ma95, Chapter I, Section 3, Example 21], [OO97a, Section 13]: In the Jacobi-Trudi determinant, the h-functions need to be appropriately modified according to the column number.

Proof of Proposition 6.2. Step 1. Parameter ν being fixed, we will omit it from the notation below. In particular, we abbreviate $H^*(t) = H^*(t; \nu)$. Assume we dispose of an expansion into a finite sum, of the form

$$H^*(t_1)\dots H^*(t_K) = \sum_{\mathbf{z}} C(\mathbf{z})\mathfrak{S}_{\mathbf{z}|N}(t_1,\dots,t_K), \tag{6.4}$$

with some coefficients $C(\varkappa)$. Then, due to the uniqueness claim of Proposition 5.1, the coefficients $C(\varkappa;\nu)$ must be the same as the quantities $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)/\operatorname{Dim}_N\nu$.

The functions $\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\ldots,t_K)$ can be written in the form

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa|N}(t_1,\ldots,t_K) = \operatorname{const}(N,K) \frac{\det \left[g_{k_j}(t_i)\right]_{i,j=1}^K}{V(t_1,\ldots,t_K)},$$

where

$$k_1 = \varkappa_1 - 1, \dots, k_K = \varkappa_K - K,$$

$$g_k(t) = \frac{\Gamma(t+1+N)\Gamma(t-k)}{\Gamma(t+1)\Gamma(t-k+N-K+1)}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\operatorname{const}(N,K) = (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{i=1}^K \frac{(N-K)!}{(N-K+i-1)!}.$$

Assume we have found some rational functions $\varphi_1(t), \ldots, \varphi_K(t)$ with the following two properties:

• First, for every a = 1, ..., K there exists a finite expansion

$$H^*(t)\varphi_a(t) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} C_k^a g_k(t)$$
(6.5)

with some coefficients C_k^a .

• Second,

$$\det \left[\varphi_a(t_i)\right]_{a,i=1}^K = \frac{V(t_1,\dots,t_K)}{\operatorname{const}(N,K)}.$$
(6.6)

We claim that then (6.4) holds with coefficients

$$C(\varkappa) := C(k_1, \dots, k_K) := \det \left[C_{k_b}^a \right]_{a,b-1}^K.$$
 (6.7)

Indeed, first of all, note that these coefficients vanish for all but finitely many \varkappa 's (because of finiteness of expansion (6.5)), so that the future expansion (6.4) will be finite. Next, applying (6.5) and (6.6), we have

$$\sum_{k_1 > \dots > k_K} C(k_1, \dots, k_K) \det \left[g_{k_j}(t_i) \right]_{i,j=1}^K = \sum_{k_1 > \dots > k_K} \det \left[C_{k_b}^a \right]_{a,b=1}^K \det \left[g_{k_j}(t_i) \right]_{i,j=1}^K$$

$$= \det \left[\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} C_k^a g_k(t_i) \right]_{i,a=1}^K = \det \left[H^*(t_i) \varphi_a(t_i) \right]_{i,a=1}^K$$

$$= H^*(t_1) \dots H^*(t_K) \det \left[\varphi_a(t_i) \right]_{a,i=1}^K = H^*(t_1) \dots H^*(t_K) \frac{V(t_1, \dots, t_K)}{\operatorname{const}(N, K)},$$

which is equivalent to the desired equality

$$H^*(t_1) \dots H^*(t_K) = \sum_{\varkappa} \det \left[C_{k_b}^a \right]_{a,b=1}^K \mathfrak{S}_{\varkappa | N}(t_1, \dots, t_K).$$

Step 2. Now we exhibit the functions $\varphi_a(t)$:

$$\varphi_a(t) = g_{-a}(t) = \frac{\Gamma(t+a)\Gamma(t+N+1)}{\Gamma(t+1)\Gamma(t+N-K+a+1)}, \quad a = 1, \dots, K.$$
 (6.8)

Let us examine what (6.5) means. Dividing the both sides of (6.5) by $\varphi_a(t)$ we get

$$H^*(t) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} C_k^a \frac{g_k(t)}{\varphi_a(t)}.$$

But

$$\frac{g_k(t)}{\varphi_a(t)} = \frac{\Gamma(t+N-K+a+1)\Gamma(t-k)}{\Gamma(t+a)\Gamma(t-k+N-K+1)} = \frac{(t+a)(t+a+1)\dots(t+a+N-K)}{(t-k)(t-k+1)\dots(t-k+N-K)}.$$

In the notation of (6.1), this fraction is nothing else than $f_{\mathbb{L},k+a}$, where \mathbb{L} denotes the interval $\{-N+K-a,\ldots,-a\}$ in \mathbb{Z} . It follows that the desired expansion (6.5) does exist and (restoring the detailed notation $H^*(t;\nu)$) the corresponding coefficients are

$$C_k^a = (H^*(\cdot; \nu) : f_{\{-N+K-a,\dots,-a\},k+a}).$$

Then the prescription (6.7) gives us

$$C(\varkappa) = \det \left[C_{k_b}^a \right]_{a,b=1}^K = \det \left[C_{\varkappa_b-b}^a \right]_{a,b=1}^K$$
$$= \det \left[\left(H^*(\cdot; \nu) : f_{\{-N+K-a, \dots, -a\}, \varkappa_b-b+a\}} \right) \right]_{a,b=1}^K.$$

This is exactly (6.2), within the renaming of indices $(b, a) \rightarrow (i, j)$.

Step 3. It remains to check that the functions (6.8) satisfy (6.6). That is, renaming a by j,

$$\det \left[\frac{\Gamma(t_i+j)\Gamma(t_i+N+1)}{\Gamma(t_i+1)\Gamma(t_i+N-K+j+1)} \right]_{i,j=1}^{K}$$

$$= V(t_1,\dots,t_K) (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{i=1}^{K} \frac{(N-K+i-1)!}{(N-K)!}$$

or

$$\det \left[(t_i + 1) \dots (t_i + j - 1)(t_i + N - K + j + 1) \dots (t_i + N) \right]_{i,j=1}^K$$

$$= V(t_1, \dots, t_K) (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{i=1}^K \frac{(N - K + i - 1)!}{(N - K)!}. \quad (6.9)$$

This identity is a particular case of Lemma 3 in Krattenthaler's paper [Kr99]. For the reader's convenience we reproduce the statement of this lemma in the original notation: Let $X_1, \ldots, X_n, A_2, \ldots, A_n$, and B_2, \ldots, B_n be indeterminates. Then

$$\det [(X_i + A_n)(X_i + A_{n-1}) \cdots (X_i + A_{j+1})(X_i + B_j)(X_i + B_{j-1}) \cdots (X_i + B_2)]_{i,j=1}^n$$

$$= \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (X_i - X_j) \prod_{2 \le i \le j \le n} (B_i - A_j). \quad (6.10)$$

Setting n = K, $X_i = t_i$, $A_j = N - K + j$ and

$$(B_2,\ldots,B_n)=(1,\ldots,K-1)$$

one sees that the determinant in (6.10) turns into that in (6.9). Next,

$$\prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (X_i - X_j) = V(t_1, \dots, t_K)$$

and

$$\prod_{2 \le i \le j \le n} (B_i - A_j) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le K} (i - (N - K + j))$$

$$= (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le K} (N - K + j - i)) = (-1)^{K(K-1)/2} \prod_{j=1}^{K} \frac{(N - K + j - 1)!}{(N - K)!},$$

which agrees with (6.9).

This completes the proof of the proposition.

7. Expansion on rational fractions

In this section we derive an expression for the coefficients $(H^*(\cdot; \nu): f_{\mathbb{L},k})$ making formula (6.2) available for practical use.

Fix a finite interval $\mathbb{L} = \{a, a+1, \dots, b-1, b\} \subset \mathbb{Z}$. As explained in the beginning of Section 6, the space $V_{\mathbb{L}}$ has a basis consisting of the rational fractions

$$f_{\mathbb{L},k}(t) = \frac{(t-b)(t-b+1)\dots(t-a)}{(t-b-k)(t-b-k)\dots(t-a-k)}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

For a rational function G(t) from $V_{\mathbb{L}}$, we write its expansion in the basis $\{f_{\mathbb{L},k}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ as

$$G(t) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (G : f_{\mathbb{L},k}) f_{\mathbb{L},k}(t)$$

and denote by $\operatorname{Res}_{t=x}G(t)$ the residue of G(t) at a point $x \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proposition 7.1. Assume $n := b - a + 1 \ge 2$. In the above notation

$$(G: f_{\mathbb{L},k}) = \begin{cases} (n-1) \sum_{m \ge k} \frac{(m-k+1)_{n-2}}{(m)_n} \operatorname{Res}_{t=b+m} G(t), & k \ge 1, \\ -(n-1) \sum_{m \ge |k|} \frac{(m-|k|+1)_{n-2}}{(m)_n} \operatorname{Res}_{t=a-m} G(t), & k \le -1, \\ G(\infty) + \sum_{m \ge 1} \frac{1}{m+n-1} \left(-\operatorname{Res}_{t=b+m} G(t) + \operatorname{Res}_{t=a-m} G(t) \right), & k = 0. \end{cases}$$

Proof. It is easy to write the expansion of G(t) in another basis of $V_{\mathbb{L}}$, formed by 1 and the fractions $(t-x)^{-1}$, where x ranges over $\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathbb{L}$:

$$G(t) = G(\infty) + \sum_{m>1} \left(\frac{\text{Res}_{t=b+m} G(t)}{t - (b+m)} + \frac{\text{Res}_{t=a-m} G(t)}{t - (a-m)} \right).$$
 (7.1)

Thus, to find the coefficients $(G: f_{\mathbb{L},k})$ it suffices to compute the expansion of the elements of the second basis on the fractions $f_{\mathbb{L},k}$.

Obviously,

$$1 = f_{\mathbb{L},0}. \tag{7.2}$$

Thus, the problem is to expand the functions $(t - (b + m))^{-1}$ and $(t - (a - m))^{-1}$ with $m = 1, 2, \ldots$. We are going to prove that

$$\frac{1}{t - (b + m)} = -\frac{1}{m + n - 1} f_{\mathbb{L},0} + \frac{n - 1}{(m)_n} \sum_{k=1}^{m} (m - k + 1)_{n-2} f_{\mathbb{L},k}$$
 (7.3)

$$\frac{1}{t - (a - m)} = \frac{1}{m + n - 1} f_{\mathbb{L}, 0} - \frac{n - 1}{(m)_n} \sum_{k=1}^{m} (m - k + 1)_{n-2} f_{\mathbb{L}, -k}$$
 (7.4)

The claim of the proposition immediately follows from (7.1)–(7.4).

Observe that (7.4) is reduced to (7.3) by making use of reflection $t \to -t$. Indeed, under this reflection the basis formed by 1 and $\{f_{\mathbb{L},k}\}$ is transformed into the similar basis with \mathbb{L} replaced with $-\mathbb{L}$ (that is, parameters a and b are replaced by -b and -a, respectively), while the fractions from the second basis are transformed into the similar fractions but multiplied by -1. This explains the change of sign in the right-hand side of (7.4) as compared with (7.3).

Thus, it suffices to prove identity (7.3). Since it is invariant under the simultaneous shift of t, a, and b by an integer, we may assume, with no loss of generality, that a = 1, b = n. Then the identity takes the form

$$\frac{1}{t-n-m} = -\frac{1}{m+n-1} + \frac{n-1}{(m)_n} \sum_{k=1}^{m} (m-k+1)_{n-2} \frac{(t-1)\dots(t-n)}{(t-1-k)\dots(t-n-k)}.$$
(7.5)

The left-hand side vanishes at $t = \infty$. Let us check that the same holds for the right-hand side. Indeed, this amounts to the identity

$$\frac{n-1}{(m)_n} \sum_{k=1}^m (m-k+1)_{n-2} = \frac{1}{m+n-1}, \quad n \ge 2.$$

Renaming n-1 by n, the identity can be rewritten as

$$n\sum_{k=1}^{m}(m-k+1)\cdots(m-k+n-1)=m\cdots(m+n-1), \quad n\geq 1,$$

and then it is easily proved by induction on m.

Next, the only singularity of the left-hand side of (7.5) is the simple pole at t = n + m with residue 1. Let us check that the right-hand side has the same singularity at this point. Indeed, the only contribution comes from the mth summand, which has a simple pole at t = n + m with residue

$$\frac{(n-1)!}{(m)_n} \frac{(t-1)\dots(t-n)}{(t-1-m)\dots(t-n-m+1)} \bigg|_{t=n+m} = 1,$$

as desired.

It remains to check that the right-hand side of (7.5) is regular at points $t = n + 1, \ldots, n + m - 1$. All possible poles are simple, so that it suffices to check that the residue at every such point vanishes. In the corresponding identity, we may formally extend summation to $k = 1, \ldots, m + n - 2$, because the extra terms actually vanish. This happens due to the factor $(m - k + 1)_{n-2}$.

Thus, compute the residue at a given point $s \in \{n+1, \ldots, n+m-1\}$. The terms that contribute to the residue are those with $k=s-n, s-n+1, \ldots, s-1, n$ summands total. Setting j=k-(s-n), the sum of the residues has the form

$$\frac{n-1}{(m)_n} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (m-j-s+n+1)_{n-2} \frac{(-1)^j}{j!(n-1-j)!} (s-1) \dots (s-n).$$

The fact that this expression vanishes follows from a more general claim: For any polynomial P of degree $\leq n-2$,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} P(j) \frac{(-1)^j}{j!(n-1-j)!} = 0.$$

Finally, to prove the last identity, apply the differential operator $(x\frac{d}{dx})^{\ell}$ to $(1-x)^{n-1}$ and then set x=1. For $\ell=0,1,\ldots,n-2$ this gives

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} j^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^j}{j!(n-1-j)!} = 0.$$

Propositions 6.2 and 7.1 together give the following explicit formula.

Theorem 7.2. Let $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, where $N > K \geq 1$, and recall the notation

$$H^*(t;\nu) = \frac{(t+1)\dots(t+N)}{(t+1-\nu_1)\dots(t+N-\nu_N)}.$$

One has

$$\frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu} = \det\left[A_{N}(i,j)\right]_{i,j=1}^{K},\tag{7.6}$$

where the entries of the $K \times K$ matrix $A_N = [A_N(i,j)]$ are defined according to the following rule, which depends on the column number j = 1, ..., K and the integer

$$k := k(i, j) = \varkappa_i - i + j.$$

• If $k \geq 1$, then

$$A_N(i,j) = (N-K) \sum_{m \ge k} \frac{(m-k+1)_{N-K-1}}{(m)_{N-K+1}} \operatorname{Res}_{t=-j+m} H^*(t;\nu)$$
 (7.7)

• If $k \leq -1$, then

$$A_N(i,j) = -(N-K) \sum_{m \ge |k(i,j)|} \frac{(m-|k|+1)_{N-K-1}}{(m)_{N-K+1}} \operatorname{Res}_{t=-N+K-j-m} H^*(t;\nu). \quad (7.8)$$

• If k = 0, then

$$A_{N}(i,j) = 1 - \sum_{m \ge 1} \frac{1}{m+N-K} \operatorname{Res}_{t=-j+m} H^{*}(t;\nu) + \sum_{m \ge 1} \frac{1}{m+N-K} \operatorname{Res}_{t=-N+K-j-m} H^{*}(t;\nu).$$
(7.9)

Proof. By virtue of Proposition 6.2, formula (7.6) holds with the $K \times K$ matrix $A_N = [A_N(i,j)]$ defined by

$$A_N(i,j) = (H^*(\cdot;\nu): f_{\mathbb{L}(N,j), \varkappa_i - i + j}), \quad i, j = 1, \dots, K,$$

where

$$\mathbb{L}(N,j) := \{-N+K-j,\ldots,-j\} \subseteq \mathbb{L}(N) := \{-N,\ldots,-1\} \subset \mathbb{Z}.$$

To compute the entry $A_N(i,j)$ we apply Proposition 7.1, where we substitute $G(t) = H^*(t;\nu)$ and

$$\mathbb{L} = \mathbb{L}(N, j), \quad a = -N + K - j, \quad b = -j, \quad n = N - K + 1.$$

This leads to the desired formulas.

Proposition 7.3. Assume that N is large enough, where the necessary lower bound depends on \varkappa . Then the formulas of Theorem 7.2 can be rewritten in the following equivalent form:

• If $k \geq 1$, then

$$A_N(i,j) = (N-K) \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\ell+j-k+1)_{k-1}}{(\ell+j-k+N-K)_{k+1}} \operatorname{Res}_{t=\ell} H^*(t;\nu).$$
 (7.10)

• If $k \leq -1$, then

$$A_N(i,j) = -(N-K) \sum_{\ell=-\infty}^{-N-1} \frac{(\ell+j+N-K+1)_{|k|-1}}{(\ell+j)_{|k|+1}} \operatorname{Res}_{t=\ell} H^*(t;\nu).$$
 (7.11)

• If k = 0, then

$$A_{N}(i,j) = 1 - \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\ell + j + N - K} \operatorname{Res}_{t=\ell} H^{*}(t;\nu) - \sum_{\ell=-\infty}^{-N-1} \frac{1}{-\ell - j} \operatorname{Res}_{t=\ell} H^{*}(t;\nu).$$
(7.12)

Proof. Examine formula (7.7). Its transformation to (7.10) involves three steps.

Step 1. The key observation is that the summation in (7.7) can be formally extended by starting it from m = 1. The reason is that the extra terms with $1 \le m < k$ actually vanish. Indeed, the vanishing comes from the product

$$(m-k+1)_{N-K-1} = (m-k+1)\dots(m-k+N-K-1).$$

Since $1 \leq m < k$, the first factor of the product is ≤ 0 while the last factor is positive (here the assumption that N is large enough is essential!). Therefore, one of the factors is 0.

Step 2. A simple transformation shows that

$$\frac{(m-k+1)_{N-K-1}}{(m)_{N-K+1}} = \frac{\Gamma(m-k+N-K)\Gamma(m)}{\Gamma(m-k+1)\Gamma(m+N-K+1)} = \frac{(m-k+1)_{k-1}}{(m-k+N-K)_{k+1}}.$$

Step 3. Observe that the possible poles of $H^*(t;\nu)$ are located in

$$\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathbb{L} = \{\dots, -N-3, -N-2, -N-1\} \cup \{0, 1, 2, \dots\}.$$

All possible poles at points t = -j + m, where m = 1, 2, ..., are entirely contained in $\{0, 1, 2, ...\}$. Therefore, we may assume that m ranges over $\{j, j + 1, j + 2, ...\}$. Setting $m = j + \ell$ we finally arrive at (7.10).

To transform (7.8) to (7.11) we apply the similar argument.

To transform the sums in (7.9) we need to apply only the last step of the above argument.

8. Contour integral representation

We keep the notation of the preceding section: The number K = 1, 2, ... and the signature $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ are fixed, and we are dealing with the $K \times K$ matrix $[A_N(i,j)]$ that depends on $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, and is defined by the formulas of Proposition 7.3. We denote by \mathbb{T} the unit circle |u| = 1 in \mathbb{C} oriented counterclockwise.

Proposition 8.1. Every entry $A_N(i,j)$ can be written in the form

$$A_N(i,j) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathbb{T}} \Phi(u;\omega(\nu)) R_{\varkappa_i - i + j}^{(j)}(u;N) \frac{du}{u}, \tag{8.1}$$

where, for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, j = 1, ..., K, and natural N > K, the function $u \to R_k^{(j)}(u; N)$ is continuous on \mathbb{T} and such that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} R_k^{(j)}(u; N) = \frac{1}{u^k} \tag{8.2}$$

uniformly on $u \in \mathbb{T}$.

The explicit expression for $R_k^{(j)}(u; N)$ is the following:

• If $k \geq 1$, then

$$R_k^{(j)}(u;N) = \frac{N-K}{N} \frac{u \prod_{m=1}^{k-1} \left(1 + \frac{(j-k-\frac{1}{2}+m)(u-1)}{N}\right)}{\prod_{m=1}^{k+1} \left(u + \frac{(j-k-\frac{3}{2}+m)(u-1)}{N}\right)}.$$
 (8.3)

• If $k \leq -1$, then

$$R_k^{(j)}(u;N) = \frac{N-K}{N} \frac{u \prod_{m=1}^{|k|-1} \left(u + \frac{(j-K-\frac{1}{2}+m)(u-1)}{N} \right)}{\prod_{m=1}^{|k|+1} \left(1 + \frac{(j-\frac{3}{2}+m)(u-1)}{N} \right)}.$$
 (8.4)

• If k = 0, then

$$R_0^{(j)}(u;N) = \frac{N-K}{N} \frac{u}{\left(u + \frac{(j-K-\frac{1}{2})(u-1)}{N}\right) \left(1 + \frac{(j-\frac{1}{2})(u-1)}{N}\right)}.$$
 (8.5)

Proof. Recall (see Proposition 5.2) that

$$H^*(t;\nu) = \Phi(u;\omega(\nu)),$$

where t and u are related by the mutually inverse linear-fractional transformations

$$t = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{N}{u-1}, \qquad u = 1 + \frac{N}{t + \frac{1}{2}}.$$

The transformation $t \to u$ maps the right half-plane $\Re\,t > -\frac{N+1}{2}$ onto the exterior of the unit circle |u|=1, and the left half-plane $\Re\,t < -\frac{N+1}{2}$ is mapped onto the interior of the circle. The vertical line $\Re\,t = -\frac{N+1}{2}$ just passes through the midpoint of the interval [-N,-1], which is free of the poles of $H^*(t;\nu)$. Note also that

$$dt = -\frac{N}{(u-1)^2}du = -\frac{Nu}{(u-1)^2}\frac{du}{u}.$$
 (8.6)

Consider separately the three cases depending on whether $k \geq 1, k \leq -1$ or k = 0.

Case $k \geq 1$. We can write (7.10) as the contour integral

$$A(i,j) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_C \rho(t) H^*(t;\nu) dt,$$

where C is a simple contour in the half-plane $\Re t > -\frac{N+1}{2}$, oriented in the positive direction and encircling all the poles of $H^*(t;\nu)$ located in this half-plane and

$$\rho(t) = (N - K) \frac{(t + j - k + 1)_{k-1}}{(t + j - k + N - K)_{k+1}}.$$

Passing to variable u we get, after a simple transformation,

$$\rho(t) = \widetilde{\rho}(u) := \frac{(N-K)(u-1)^2}{N^2} \frac{\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} \left(1 + \frac{(j-k-\frac{1}{2}+m)(u-1)}{N}\right)}{\prod_{m=1}^{k+1} \left(u + \frac{(j-k-\frac{3}{2}+m)(u-1)}{N}\right)}.$$

Without loss of generality we can assume that contour C also encircles the special point $t=-\frac{1}{2}$ corresponding to $u=\infty$. This means that its image in the u-plane goes around the unit circle |u|=1 in the negative direction. Thus, we can deform it, in the u-plane, to the unit circle. The change of orientation to the positive one produces the minus sign, which cancels the minus sign in formula (8.6) for the transformation of the differential. Note that the deformation of the contour is justified, because $\widetilde{\rho}(u)$ has no singularity in the exterior of the unit circle (this is best seen from the expression for $\rho(t)$, which obviously has no singularity in the half-plane $\Re\,t>-\frac{N+1}{2}$). As for the factor $(u-1)^2$ in the denominator of (8.6), it is cancelled by the same factor in the numerator of $\widetilde{\rho}(u)$. Finally we get the desired integral representation (8.1) with $R_k^{(j)}(u;N)$ given by (8.3).

Case $k \leq -1$. This case is analyzed in the same way.

Case k = 0. The same argument as above allows one to write the expression in (7.12) as

$$1 - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{C_{+}} \frac{\Phi(u; \omega(\nu))du}{(u-1)(u+\varepsilon_{1}(u-1))} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{C_{-}} \frac{\Phi(u; \omega(\nu))du}{(u-1)(1+\varepsilon_{2}(u-1))}$$
(8.7)

where

$$\varepsilon_1 = \frac{j - K - \frac{1}{2}}{N}, \qquad \varepsilon_2 = \frac{j - \frac{1}{2}}{N},$$

and C_+ and C_- are two circles close to the unit circle |u|=1, both oriented in the positive direction, and such that C_+ is outside the unit circle while C_- is inside it. Since $\Phi(u;\omega(\nu))$ takes value 1 at u=1, we have

$$1 - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{C_{+}} \frac{\Phi(u; \omega(\nu)) du}{(u-1)(1+\varepsilon_{2}(u-1))} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{C_{-}} \frac{\Phi(u; \omega(\nu)) du}{(u-1)(1+\varepsilon_{2}(u-1))} = 0.$$

Subtracting this from (8.7) we get the contour integral with the integrand equal to $\Phi(u;\omega(\nu))du$ multiplied by

$$\frac{1}{(u-1)(1+\varepsilon_2(u-1))} - \frac{1}{(u-1)(u+\varepsilon_1(u-1))}$$
$$= \frac{1+\varepsilon_1-\varepsilon_2}{(u+\varepsilon_1(u-1))(1+\varepsilon_2(u-1))}.$$

This leads to (8.5).

The asymptotics (8.2) is obvious from the explicit expressions (8.3), (8.4), and (8.5).

Let $\mathbb{T}^K = \mathbb{T} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{T}$ be the K-fold product of unit circles. Theorem 7.2, Proposition 7.3, and Proposition 8.1 together imply the following result.

Theorem 8.2. Given K = 1, 2, ... and $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$, one can exhibit a sequence $\{R_\varkappa(u_1, ..., u_K; N) : N > K\}$ of continuous functions on the torus \mathbb{T}^K such that: (i) For all N large enough and every $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$

$$\frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu} = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{K}} \oint_{\mathbb{T}} \dots \oint_{\mathbb{T}} \Phi(u_{1};\omega(\nu)) \dots \Phi(u_{K};\omega(\nu)) \times R_{\varkappa}(u_{1},\dots,u_{K};N) \frac{du_{1}}{u_{1}} \dots \frac{du_{K}}{u_{K}}, \quad (8.8)$$

where each copy of \mathbb{T} is oriented counterclockwise.

(ii) As N goes to infinity,

$$R_{\varkappa}(u_1,\ldots,u_K;N) \to \det \left[u_j^{-(\varkappa_i-i+j)}\right]_{i,j=1}^K$$

uniformly on $(u_1, \ldots, u_K) \in \mathbb{T}^K$.

Proof. (i) Indeed, set

$$R_{\varkappa}(u_1, \dots, u_K; N) = \det \left[R_{\varkappa_i - i + j}^{(j)}(u_j; N) \right]_{i,j=1}^K,$$
 (8.9)

where the functions $R_{\varkappa_i-i+j}^{(j)}(u,N)$ are defined in Proposition 8.1. Recall that Theorem 7.2 expresses the relative dimension $\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)/\operatorname{Dim}_N\nu$ as the determinant

of a matrix $A_N = [A_N(i,j)]$; Proposition 7.3 provides a more convenient expression for the matrix entries that works for large N; and finally Proposition 8.1 says that this expression can be written as a contour integral involving the functions $R_{\varkappa_i-i+j}^{(j)}(u,N)$. Now we plug in the determinant (8.9) into the K-fold contour integral (8.8) and expand the determinant on columns. Applying (8.1) we get $\det[A_N(i,j)]$, as desired.

(ii) This follows directly from
$$(8.9)$$
 and (8.2) .

Remark 8.3. The graph \mathbb{GT} possesses the reflection symmetry $\nu \mapsto \widehat{\nu}$, where, given a signature $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$, $N = 1, 2, \ldots$, we set

$$\widehat{\nu} = (\widehat{\nu}_1, \dots, \widehat{\nu}_N) := (-\nu_N, \dots, -\nu_1).$$

The corresponding symmetry $\omega \mapsto \widehat{\omega}$ of Ω amounts to switching the plus- and minus-coordinates:

$$\alpha_i^+ \leftrightarrow \alpha_i^-, \qquad \beta_i^+ \leftrightarrow \beta_i^-, \qquad \delta^+ \leftrightarrow \delta^-.$$

Note also that $\widehat{\omega(\nu)} = \omega(\widehat{\nu})$ and

$$\Phi(u;\omega) = \Phi(u^{-1};\widehat{\omega}).$$

Evidently, the reflection symmetry preserves the relative dimension:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu} = \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\widehat{\varkappa},\widehat{\nu})}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\widehat{\nu}}.$$

Therefore, the expression given in (8.8) must satisfy this identity. This is indeed true and can be readily verified using the relation

$$R_k^{(j)}(u;N) = R_{-k}^{(K+1-j)}(u^{-1};N)$$

which follows directly from (8.3), (8.4), and (8.5).

The Uniform Approximation Theorem (Theorem 3.1) is a direct consequence of Theorem 8.2:

Proof of the Uniform Approximation Theorem. As was already pointed out in the end of Section 3, both quantities $\Lambda_K^N(\nu,\varkappa)$ and $\Lambda_K^\infty(\omega,\varkappa)$ entering (3.1) involve one and the same constant factor $\operatorname{Dim}_K \varkappa$. Therefore, (3.1) is equivalent to

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sup_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} \left| \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa, \nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_N \nu} - \varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega(\nu)) \right| = 0.$$
 (8.10)

To estimate the deviation

$$\frac{\operatorname{Dim}_{K,N}(\varkappa,\nu)}{\operatorname{Dim}_{N}\nu} - \varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega(\nu)) \tag{8.11}$$

we observe that both quantities in (8.11) can be written as K-fold contour integrals of the same type. Indeed, for the relative dimension we apply (8.8). Next, by the very definition $\varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega) = \det[\varphi_{\varkappa_i - i + j}(\omega)]$ and

$$\varphi_k(\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathbb{T}} \Phi(u; \omega) \frac{1}{u^k} \frac{du}{u},$$

so that $\varphi_{\varkappa}(\omega(\nu))$ admits a similar integral representation, only $R(u_1, \ldots, u_K; N)$ has to be replaced by

$$\det \left[u_j^{-(\varkappa_i - i + j)} \right]_{i,j=1}^K.$$

It follows that for any $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ the modulus of (8.11) is bounded from above by the following integral over the torus \mathbb{T}^K taken with respect to the normalized Lebesgue measure m(du), where we abbreviate $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_K)$:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^K} |\Phi(u_1; \omega(\nu)) \cdots \Phi(u_K; \omega(\nu))| \left| R_{\varkappa}(u_1, \dots, u_K; N) - \det \left[u_j^{-(\varkappa_i - i + j)} \right]_{i,j=1}^K \right| m(du).$$

By Proposition 2.4,

$$|\Phi(u_1; \omega(\nu)) \cdots \Phi(u_K; \omega(\nu))| \leq 1.$$

Therefore, the above integral does not exceed

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^K} \left| R_{\varkappa}(u_1, \dots, u_K; N) - \det \left[u_j^{-(\varkappa_i - i + j)} \right]_{i,j=1}^K \right| m(du)$$

and the desired uniform bound follows from the second assertion of Theorem 8.2. \Box

9. Appendix

Let $\{\nu(N) \in \mathbb{GT}_N : N = 1, 2, ...\}$ be a sequence of signatures of growing length. We say that it is regular if for any fixed K = 1, 2, ... the sequence of probability measures $\Lambda_K^N(\nu(N), \cdot)$ weakly converges to a probability measure on \mathbb{GT}_K . (This means that for every $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ there exists a limit $\lim_{N\to\infty} \Lambda^N(\nu(N), \varkappa)$ and the sum over $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ of the limit values equals 1.) This definition is equivalent to regularity of the sequence of normalized characters $\widetilde{\chi}_{\nu(N)}$ as defined in [OO98].

A particular case of the results of [OO98] is the following theorem.

Theorem 9.1. A sequence $\{\nu(N) \in \mathbb{GT}_N : N = 1, 2, ...\}$ is regular if and only if the corresponding sequence $\{\omega(\nu(N)) \text{ of points in } \Omega \text{ converges to a point } \omega \in \Omega.$

Moreover, if $\{\nu(N) \in \mathbb{GT}_N : N = 1, 2, ...\}$ is regular, then the limit measure $\lim_{N \to \infty} \Lambda_K^N(\nu(N), \cdot)$ coincides with $\Lambda_K^\infty(\omega, \cdot)$, where $\omega = \lim_{N \to \infty} \omega(\nu(N))$.

The aim of this section is to discuss the interrelations between this assertion and the Uniform Convergence Theorem (Theorem 3.1). Recall that this theorem says that for any fixed $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sup_{\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N} \left| \Lambda_K^N(\nu, \varkappa) - \Lambda^\infty(\omega(\nu), \varkappa) \right| = 0 \tag{9.1}$$

Derivation of Theorem 9.1 from Theorem 3.1. Combining (9.1) with continuity of $\Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega,\varkappa)$ in the first argument we see that if the sequence $\omega(\nu(N))$ converges to a point $\omega \in \Omega$, then for any fixed K, the measure $\Lambda_K^N(\nu(N),\cdot)$ weakly converges to the probability measure $\Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega,\cdot)$, so that $\{\nu(N)\}$ is regular.

Conversely, assume that $\{\nu(N)\}$ is regular and prove that $\{\omega(\nu(N))\}$ has a limit $\omega \in \Omega$. Since Ω is locally compact, it suffices to prove that $\{\omega(\nu(N))\}$ cannot have two distinct limit points in Ω and cannot contain a subsequence converging to infinity.

The existence of distinct limit points is excluded by virtue of the argument above and the fact that different points of Ω generate different measures on \mathbb{GT}_1 , which in turn follows from Proposition 2.5.

The escape to infinity for a subsequence is also impossible, as is seen from (9.1) and the fact that $\Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega, \varkappa) \to 0$ as ω goes to infinity.

This completes the proof.

Derivation of Theorem 3.1 from Theorem 9.1 and results from [Ok97]. It suffices to prove the following assertion: If $N(1) < N(2) < \dots$ and $\nu(1) \in \mathbb{GT}_{N(1)}, \nu(2) \in \mathbb{GT}_{N(2)}, \dots$ are such that for any fixed K and $\varkappa \in \mathbb{GT}_K$ there exists a limit

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \left(\Lambda_K^{N(n)}(\nu(n),\varkappa) - \Lambda^\infty(\omega(\nu(n)),\varkappa)\right) = c_\varkappa,$$

then $c_{\varkappa} = 0$ for all \varkappa .

Passing to a subsequence we are led to the following two cases: either the sequence $\{\omega(\nu(N))\}$ converges to a point $\omega \in \Omega$ or this sequence goes to infinity.

In the first case, the desired assertion follows from Theorem 9.1. Indeed, it says that $\Lambda_K^{N(n)}(\nu(n), \varkappa) \to \Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega, \varkappa)$. On the other hand, $\Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega(\nu(n)), \varkappa) \to \Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega, \varkappa)$ by continuity of $\Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega, \varkappa)$.

In the second case, we know that $\Lambda_K^{\infty}(\omega(\nu(n)), \varkappa) \to 0$ for any \varkappa (see Corollary 2.11). Therefore, we have to prove that for any K, the measures $M_K^{(n)} := \Lambda_K^{N(n)}(\nu(n), \cdot)$ weakly converge to 0.

Without loss of generality we may assume that for every K the sequence $\{M_K^{(n)}\}$ weakly converges to a measure $M_K^{(\infty)}$. It follows (here we also use the Feller property of the stochastic matrices Λ_K^{K+1} , see Proposition 2.12) that the limit measures are compatible with these matrices:

$$M_{K+1}^{(\infty)} \Lambda_K^{K+1} = M_K^{(\infty)}, \qquad K = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$

Therefore, the total mass of $M_K^{(\infty)}$ does not depend on K. If this mass equals 1, that is, the limit measures are probability measures, then Theorem 9.1 implies that the sequence $\omega(\nu(N(n)))$ converges in Ω , which is impossible. If the total mass equal 0, the limit measures are zero measures and we are done. Thus, it remains to prove that the total mass of M_K^{∞} cannot be equal to a number strictly contained between

0 and 1. It suffices to prove this assertion for K = 1, and then it is the subject of the proposition below, which relies on results of [Ok97].

Proposition 9.2. Let $M^{(1)}, M^{(2)}, \ldots$ be a sequence of probability measures on \mathbb{Z} such that every $M^{(n)}$ has the form $\Lambda_1^N(\nu, \cdot)$, where $N \geq 2$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{GT}_N$ depend on n. Then $\{M^{(n)}\}$ cannot weakly converge to a nonzero measure of total mass strictly less than 1.

In other words, such a sequence of probability measures cannot escape to infinity partially.

Proof. A measure M on \mathbb{Z} is said to be log-concave if for any two integers k, l of the same parity

$$M(k)M(l) \le (M(\frac{1}{2}(k+l)))^2.$$

Each measure of the form $M = \Lambda_1^N(\nu, \cdot)$ is log-concave: this nontrivial fact is a particular case of the results of [Ok97].

Furthermore, such a measure has no *internal zeros*, that is, its support is a whole interval in \mathbb{Z} . Indeed, it is not hard to check that the support of $\Lambda_1^N(\nu, \cdot)$ is the interval $\{\nu_N, \ldots, \nu_1\} \subset \mathbb{Z}$.

Thus, our probability measures $M^{(n)}$ are log-concave and have no internal zeros. Assume that they weakly converge to a nonzero measure $M^{(\infty)}$. Then we may apply the argument of [Ok97, p. 276]. It provides a uniform on n bound on the tails of measures $M^{(n)}$, which shows that for any $r=1,2,\ldots$, the rth moment of $M^{(n)}$ converges to the rth moment of $M^{(\infty)}$. The convergence of the second moments already suffices (via Chebyshev's inequality) to conclude that $M^{(\infty)}$ is a probability measure.

References

[AESW51] M. Aissen, A. Edrei, I. J. Schoenberg, and A. Whitney, On the generating functions of totally positive sequences. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 37 (1951), 303–307.

[ASW52] M. Aissen, I. J. Schoenberg, and A. Whitney, On the generating functions of totally positive sequences I. J. Analyse Math. 2 (1952), 93–103.

[BO00a] A. Borodin and G. Olshanski, *Distributions on partitions, point processes and the hypergeometric kernel*. Commun. Math. Phys. **211** (2000), 335–358; arXiv:math/9904010.

[BO00b] A. Borodin and G. Olshanski, Harmonic functions on multiplicative graphs and interpolation polynomials. Electronic J. Comb. 7 (2000), #R28; arXiv:math/9912124.

[BO05] A. Borodin and G. Olshanski, Harmonic analysis on the infinite-dimensional unitary group and determinantal point processes. Ann. Math. 161 (2005), no.3, 1319–1422.

[BO10] A. Borodin and G. Olshanski, Markov processes on the path space of the Gelfand–graph and on its boundary. Preprint, 66 pp.; arXiv:1009.2029.

[BO11] A. Borodin and G. Olshanski, The Young bouquet and its boundary. In preparation.

[Boy83] R. Boyer, Infinite traces of AF-algebras and characters of $U(\infty)$. J. Operator Theory **9** (1983), 205–236.

[Do59] J. L. Doob, Discrete potential theory and boundaries. Indiana Univ. Math J. 8 (1959), No 3, 433-458; corrections: No 6, p. 993.

- [Dy71] E. B. Dynkin, *Initial and final behavior of trajectories of Markov processes*. Uspehi Mat. Nauk **26** (1971), no. 4, 153–172 (Russian); English translation: Russian Math. Surveys **26** (1971), no. 4, 165–185.
- [Dy78] E. B. Dynkin, Sufficient statistics and extreme points. Ann. Probab. 6 (1978), 705–730.
- [Ed52] A. Edrei, On the generating functions of totally positive sequences II. J. Analyse Math., **2** (1952), 104–109.
- [Ed53] A. Edrei, On the generating function of a doubly infinite, totally positive sequence. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **74** (1953), 367–383.
- [Go11] V. Gorin, The q-Gelfand-Tsetlin graph, Gibbs measures and q-Toeplitz matrices. To appear in Adv. Math.; arXiv:1011.1769.
- [IO03] V. Ivanov and G. Olshanski, Kerov's central limit theorem for the Plancherel measure on Young diagrams. In: Symmetric functions 2001. Surveys of developments and perspectives. Proc. NATO Advanced Study Institute (S. Fomin, editor), Kluwer, 2002, pp. 93–151; arXiv:math/0304010.
- [KSK76] J. G. Kemeny, J. L. Snell and A. W. Knapp, Denumerable Markov chains. Springer, NY, 1976.
- [KOO98] S. Kerov, A. Okounkov, and G. Olshanski, The boundary of Young graph with Jack edge multiplicities. Intern. Mathematics Research Notices, 1998, no. 4, 173–199; arXiv:qalg/9703037.
- [KO94] S. Kerov and G. Olshanski, Polynomial functions on the set of Young diagrams. Comptes Rendus Acad. Sci. Paris, Sér. I 319 (1994), 121–126.
- [Kr99] C. Krattenthaler Advanced determinant calculus. Séminaire Lotharingien de Combinatoire 42 (1999) Paper B42q, 67 pp.; arXiv:math/9902004.
- [Li50] D. E. Littlewood, The theory of group characters and matrix representations of groups. Oxford Univ. Press, 1950 and 1958.
- [Ma95] I. G. Macdonald, Symmetric functions and Hall polynomials. 2nd edition. Oxford University Press, 1995.
- [Mo09] A. I. Molev, Comultiplication rules for the double Schur functions and Cauchy identities. Electr. J. Comb. 16 (2009), Paper R13, 44 pp.; arXiv:0807.2127.
- [Ok97] A. Okounkov, Log-concavity of multiplicities with application to characters of $U(\infty)$. Adv. Math. 127 (1997), 258–282.
- [OO97a] A. Okounkov and G. Olshanski, Shifted Schur functions. Algebra i Analiz 9 (1997), no. 2, 73–146 (Russian); English version: St. Petersburg Mathematical J., 9 (1998), 239–300; arXiv:q-alg/9605042.
- [OO97b] A. Okounkov and G. Olshanski, *Shifted Jack polynomials, binomial formula, and applications*. Mathematical Research Letters 4 (1997), 69–78; arXiv:q-alg/9608020.
- [OO98] A. Okounkov and G. Olshanski, Asymptotics of Jack polynomials as the number of variables goes to infinity. Intern. Math. Research Notices 1998 (1998), no. 13, 641– 682; arXiv:q-alg/9709011.
- [Ols03] G. Olshanski, The problem of harmonic analysis on the infinite-dimensional unitary group. J. Funct. Anal. **205** (2003), 464–524; arXiv:math/0109193.
- [ORV03] G. Olshanski, A. Regev, and A. Vershik, *Frobenius-Schur functions*. In: Studies in memory of Issai Schur (A. Joseph, A. Melnikov, R. Rentschler, eds.). Progress in Mathematics **210**, pp. 251–300. Birkhäuser, 2003; arXiv:math/0110077.
- [Sch48] I. J. Schoenberg, Some analytical aspects of the problem of smoothing. In: Courant Anniversary Volume, Intersience, New York 1948, 351–370.
- [St99] R. P. Stanley, Enumerative combinatorics, vol. 2. Cambridge Univ. Press, 1999.

- [Tho64] E. Thoma, Die unzerlegbaren, positive-definiten Klassenfunktionen der abzählbar unendlichen, symmetrischen Gruppe. Math. Zeitschr., **85** (1964), 40–61.
- [VK81] A. M. Vershik and S. V. Kerov, Asymptotic theory of characters of the symmetric group. Funct. Anal. Appl. 15 (1981), no. 4, 246–255.
- [VK82] A. M. Vershik and S. V. Kerov, Characters and factor representations of the infinite unitary group. Doklady AN SSSR **267** (1982), no. 2, 272–276 (Russian); English translation: Soviet Math. Doklady **26** (1982), 570–574.
- [VK90] A. M. Vershik and S. V. Kerov, The Grothendieck group of infinite symmetric group and symmetric functions (with the elements of the theory of K₀-functor for AF-algebas). In: Representations of Lie groups and related topics. Advances in Contemp. Math., vol. 7 (A. M. Vershik and D. P. Zhelobenko, editors). Gordon and Breach, N.Y., London etc. 1990, 39–117.
- [Vo76] D. Voiculescu, Représentations factorielles de type II_1 de $U(\infty)$. J. Math. Pures et Appl. **55** (1976), 1–20.
- [Wey39] H. Weyl, The classical groups. Their invariants and representations. Princeton Univ. Press, 1939; 1997 (fifth edition).
- [Wi85] G. Winkler, Choquet order and simplices. With applications in probabilistic models. Springer Lect. Notes Math. 1145, 1985.
- [Zhe70] D. P. Zhelobenko, Compact Lie groups and their representations, Nauka, Moscow, 1970 (Russian); English translation: Transl. Math. Monographs 40, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1973.

California Institute of Technology; Massachusetts Institute of Technology; Institute for Information Transmission Problems, Russian Academy of Sciences *E-mail address*: borodin@caltech.edu

Institute for Information Transmission Problems, Bolshoy Karetny 19, Moscow 127994, Russia; Independent University of Moscow, Russia *E-mail address*: olsh2007@gmail.com